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The Company invites Applications on behalf of itself and also, on behalf of the Selling Shareholder in the Invitation,
for up to 249,874,965 Shares. Of those Invitation Shares, 124,937,565 Shares are Subscription Shares that are
to be issued by the Company, and 124,937,400 Shares are existing Transfer Shares to be sold by the Selling
Shareholder.
Up to 136,440,163 Shares in the Invitation are Reserved Shares that are initially reserved for application by
the Reserved Share Applicants. All Reserved Shares are priced at $1.88 each, except for the
Company Reserved Shares and the Employee Gift Shares, which are priced at $1.69 each. If any of
the Reserved Shares are not subscribed by the Reserved Share Applicants who are entitled to them,
they will be made available for subscription by the general public. Prospective Applicants should
read Section 6 of this Prospectus for Terms and Conditions of the Invitation.
An Application Form for use by all Applicants is provided at the end of this Prospectus together with
notes on how to complete it. All Applications must be submitted to the Lead Broker, Scotia Investments
Jamaica Limited, at the locations listed at Appendix 2 of this Prospectus.
The Invitation will open at 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date, 13 December 2018 and will close at 4:00 pm on the
Closing Date, 20 December 2018, subject to the right of the Company to: (a) close the Invitation early,
at any time after it opens on 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date, once Applications for all of the Shares in the
Invitation are received; and (b) extend the Closing Date for any reason in its sole discretion, provided that it
is not later than 40 days after the date of this Prospectus for the purposes of section 48 of the
Companies Act. In the case of an early closing of the Invitation, or an extension to the Closing Date,
notice will be posted on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at (www.jamstockex.com).
If the Invitation is successful in raising the Minimum Amount, the Company intends to apply to the JSE to list
all of the Shares on the Junior Market. Please note that this statement of intention is not a guarantee that
the Shares will be listed. If the Company does not raise the Minimum Amount and/or if the Shares are not
listed on the Junior Market of the JSE, the Company will refund all payments it has received from Applicants.
SHARE CAPITAL
Authorised
2,664,999,860 Shares
Issued prior to Invitation
1,124,437,260 Shares
Maximum number to be issued in the Invitation
124,937,565 Shares
TOTAL ISSUED SHARES AFTER SUCCESSFUL INVITATION
1,249,374,825 Shares
Due to the Company in respect of the Subscription Shares
Due to the Selling Shareholder in respect of the Transfer Shares

$234,040,086.20
$234,037,839.33

TOTAL CONSIDERATION ASSUMING SUCCESSFUL INVITATION

$ 468,077,925.53
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SECTION 1: IMPORTANT INFORMATION
1.1

RESPONSIBILITY FOR THIS PROSPECTUS

The Company is issuing this Prospectus on behalf of itself and the Selling Shareholder, for the purposes
of the Invitation.
The Directors of the Company and the Directors of the Selling Shareholder are the persons responsible (both
individually and collectively) for the information contained in it. Their responsibilities are joint and several as
contemplated by the Companies Act.
To the best of the knowledge and belief of the Directors of each of the Company and the Selling
Shareholder, who have taken all reasonable care to ensure that such is the case, the information set out in
this Prospectus is in accordance with the facts and no information has been omitted which is likely to have a
material effect.
The Directors of the Company and the Directors of the Selling Shareholder have each signed Section 15 of this
Prospectus for the purposes of their responsibilities as set out here.
1.2

CONTENTS OF THIS PROSPECTUS

This Prospectus contains important information for prospective investors in the Company. All prospective
investors should read this Prospectus carefully in its entirety before submitting an Application for Invitation
Shares.
This Prospectus also contains summaries of certain documents, which the Boards of Directors of the Company
and the Selling Shareholder each believe to be accurate. Any summaries appearing in this Prospectus are
qualified in their entirety by reference to the complete document. Prospective investors may wish to inspect the
actual documents that are summarised, copies of which will be available for inspection as described in Section
14.
The publication of this Prospectus shall not imply that there has been no change in the business, results
of operations, financial condition or prospects of the Company since the date of this Prospectus. Neither the
Company nor the Selling Shareholder undertakes to update the contents of this Prospectus after it is dated and
issued. If the Invitation is successful and the Shares in the Company are listed on the Junior Market of the JSE,
it will be subject to quarterly and annual reporting and other requirements for announcements to Shareholders,
as set out in the Junior Market Rules.
1.3

UNAUTHORISED REPRESENTATIONS

No person is authorised to provide information or to make any representation whatsoever in connection with this
Prospectus which is not contained in this Prospectus. Neither the FSC nor any Government agency or
regulatory authority in Jamaica has made any determination as to the accuracy or adequacy of the matters
contained in this Prospectus.
1.4

INVITATION MADE IN JAMAICA ONLY

This Prospectus is intended for use in Jamaica only. The distribution or publication of this Prospectus and the
making of the Invitation in certain jurisdictions outside of Jamaica is prohibited by law.
1.5

SEEKING PROFESSIONAL ADVICE BEFORE MAKING AN APPLICATION

All prospective investors must make their own assessment of the merits and risks of taking up any Invitation
Shares, and must also seek advice on the implications of their proposed investment given their personal
circumstances.
Each Applicant who submits an Application will be deemed to acknowledge and agree with the Terms and
Conditions set out in Section 6 and that (1) they have had an opportunity to review this entire Prospectus
and any additional information considered by them to be necessary to verify its accuracy; (2) no person has
made any representation concerning the Invitation and matters relating to it that is not contained in this
Prospectus; and (3) the Applicant is aware of the risks of an investment in the Invitation Shares given their
personal financial circumstances, risk appetite and other matters.
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SECTION 2: SUMMARY OF THE INVITATION
Company / Subscription Shares:
Selling Shareholder / Transfer Shares:
Total Invitation Shares:
Reserved Shares:
Employee Gift Reserved Shares
Company Reserved Shares
Strategic Partners Reserved Shares
Key Customers and Doctors Reserved Shares
Total Reserved Shares:

Fontana Limited / 124,937,565
Burbank Holdings Limited / 124,937,400
249,874,965
2,961,834
5,917,159
87,706,113
39,855,057
136,440,163

If any of the Reserved Shares are not subscribed by the Reserved Share Applicants, they will be made available
for subscription by the general public.
Form of Application: See Appendix 1 of this Prospectus. The Application must be delivered to the Lead
Broker and Sole Listing Agent, Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited. See the complete list of locations
where Applications may be submitted in Appendix 2. Applications received before the Opening Date will be
received and checked for accuracy, but not processed. Early Applications will be treated as having been
received at 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date and processed at that time. All other Applications will be
received and processed on a first come, first served basis.
Pricing and Payment: All Invitation Shares are priced at the Invitation Price of $1.88 per Share, except for the
Company Reserved Shares and the Employee Gift Shares, which are each priced at $1.69 each. Applicants
must submit payment for the number of Invitation Shares specified on their Application, together with the
JCSD processing fee of $163.10.
Terms and Conditions: All prospective investors see Section 6 of this Prospectus. All Applicants will be
deemed to have accepted the Terms and Conditions.
Timetable:
Registration and Publication of Prospectus
Opening Date
Closing Date

Thursday 6 December 2018
9:00 a.m. Thursday 13 December 2018
4:00 p.m. Thursday 20 December 2018

The Company may close the Invitation at any time after 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date, once Applications for all
of the Invitation Shares are received. It may also extend the Closing Date for any reason, in its sole discretion,
provided that the Closing Date is not later than 40 days after the issue date of this Prospectus for the
purposes of section 48 of the Companies Act.
In the case of an early closing of the Invitation, or an extension to the Closing Date, notice will be posted on the
website of the JSE (www.jamstockex.com).
Basis of Allotments: All Applicants may refer to the notice on the JSE website of (www.jamstockex.com)
within 3 days of the Closing Date.
Final Allotments: Provided that the Company raises the Minimum Amount from the Subscription Shares
in the Invitation by the Closing Date, it will apply to the JSE to list the Shares on the Junior Market. If the
application is successful, the final allotment of the Shares will be made on the morning of the date that the
Shares are admitted to trading.
Refund Cheques: If the Company does not raise the Minimum Amount from the Subscription Shares in the
Invitation by the Closing Date (or any extension thereof as indicated above), or if the Shares are not listed on
the Junior Market for any reason whatsoever, the Company will endeavor to refund all payments it has received
from Applicants, within 10 working days of the Closing Date.
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SECTION 3: CHAIRMAN’S LETTER
6 December 2018
Dear Prospective Investors
The Board of Directors of the Company is pleased to invite you to apply for up to 249,874,965 Invitation Shares
subject to the Terms and Conditions set out in this Prospectus.
The Company
Fontana Limited is in its fiftieth year of operation in Jamaica. The Company first opened its doors on 30
November 1968, trading as the ‘Fontana Pharmacy’ at the Manchester Shopping Centre in Mandeville. Since
then the Company has expanded its footprint across Jamaica to include branches in Kingston, Montego Bay,
Ocho Rios and Sav-La-Mar. The Company’s stores also operate an online shopping platform,
fontanapharmacy.com, which serves customers across the island and abroad.
For many Jamaicans, Fontana is the store that offers the same products that they have seen and heard about
in foreign advertisements, for sale in Jamaica. The Company started by offering health and cosmetic brands
but has since expanded its product line to include household essentials, school supplies, beauty products and
more.
Despite its growing presence, Fontana strives to maintain the personal service it has become known for, which
is founded on the small town family values of Bobby Chang, Chairman Emeritus of the Board, and his wife
Angela. Fontana seeks to develop a genuine relationship with its community and to grow with it.
Five decades on, the Company remains a family business. The second generation of the Chang family
executive Directors includes Chairman Kevin Chang, Chief Executive Officer Anne Chang and Chief Operating
Officer Raymond Therrien, who have overseen the expansion of the Company during the last two decades
supported by a professional team 330 employees. As public company, the family executive Directors are joined
on the Board by the Independent Directors, who are two experienced non- executive members that bring
additional management, finance, marketing, and corporate governance expertise and support.
Please see Section 7 of this Prospectus for more information on the Company and its operations.
About the Invitation
The Company invites Applications for 124,937,565 Subscription Shares, which are to be newly issued. The
Company is also inviting Applications on behalf of the Selling Shareholder for 124,937,400 Transfer Shares,
which are currently in issue. Of the total number of Invitation Shares, 136,440,163 are Reserved Shares that
are initially reserved for priority application from employees and other supporters of the Company.
All Shares in the Invitation are priced at $1.88 each, save for the Company Reserved Shares and the
Employee Gift Shares, which are priced at $1.69 each. If all of the Invitation Shares are subscribed and/or
sold, the Invitation will raise $468,077,925.53, of which $234,040,086.20 will be due to the Company and
$234,037,839.33 will be due to the Selling Shareholder.
__________________________________________________________________________________________
Directors:Shinque Chang, Kevin Chang, Anne Chang, Raymond Therrien, Jacqueline Sharp, Heather Goldson
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Use of Proceeds
The Board intends to use the proceeds due to the Company from a successful Invitation from the
Subscription Shares, for the following purposes:
•
Taking advantage of opportunities for improvement and expansion of the business
•
Working capital and general corporate purposes
•
Payment of the expenses of the Invitation, which the Directors believe will not exceed $ 15 million
(inclusive of legal fees, accountant’s fees, Registrar’s fees, filing fees, stamp duty fees, initial listing fees
marketing expenses, and exclusive of GCT) after payment of related expenses.,
Dividend Policy
If the Invitation is successful and the Shares are admitted to listing on the Junior Market of the JSE, the
Board expects to pay dividends of not less than twenty-five percent (25%) of profits available for
distribution, subject to the need to maintain funds to re-invest earnings for growth.
We hope prospective investors will join the Company and its team for the next phase of growth. The
Company will open a new flagship store at Waterloo, Kingston, and the Directors continue to actively
monitor further opportunities to expand the retail footprint, particularly in Montego Bay and Portmore, St.
Catherine. The Directors consider that the growth of the Company will always depend on the growth of
Jamaica and its economy and people, for which they and the Selling Shareholder are grateful in this,
Fontana’s fiftieth anniversary year.
On behalf of the Company and the Selling Shareholder,

__________________________________________________________________________________________
Directors:Shinque Chang, Kevin Chang, Anne Chang, Raymond Therrien, Jacqueline Sharp, Heather Goldson
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SECTION 4: DEFINITIONS USED IN THIS PROSPECTUS
TERM

_____________________________________________________________
MEANING

_____________________________________________________________
Companies Act

means the Companies Act, 2004 of Jamaica (as amended from time to time)
________________________________________________________________

Affiliate(s)

_____________________________________________________________

has the meaning given to such term by the Companies Act

Allotment(s)

means the allotment of the Subscription Shares and/or the transfer of the
Transfer Shares in the Invitation, subject to the Terms and Conditions

Applicant(s)

means a person (whether an individual or a body corporate) that is resident in
Jamaica, who submits an Application (or appoints an attorney to do so with proof
of valid authority)

_____________________________________________________________
Application
Articles of
Incorporation

means the form of application set out in Appendix 1

_____________________________________________________________
means the Articles of Incorporation of the Company adopted by the shareholders
of the Company on 4 December 2018

_____________________________________________________________

Audited Financial
Information

means the financial information of the Company that is extracted from the
financial statements of the Company audited by the Auditors, for each of the 5
financial years ended 30 June from 2014 to 2018 inclusive, as set out in Section
10 of this Prospectus
__________________________________________________________________

Auditor

means Crichton Mullings & Associates Chartered Accountants, of Kingston
Jamaica
__________________________________________________________________

Auditor’s Report

means the independent report of the Auditor set out in Section 10 of this
Prospectus, in relation to the Audited Financial Information
_________________________________________________________________

Board

means the Board of Directors of the Company and/or the Board of Directors of
the Selling Shareholder, as the context shall require

Burbank Holdings

means the holding company of the Company within the meaning of the
Companies Act, being a company incorporated in Saint Lucia with its registered
office at 20 Micoud Street, Castries, that is controlled by Chairman Emeritus
Shinque (Bobby) Chang

_____________________________________________________________
Closing Date

means 20 December 2018, subject to the right of the Company to shorten or
extend the Closing Date in accordance with the Terms and Conditions

_____________________________________________________________

Company

means Fontana Limited, a company incorporated in Jamaica with its registered
office at Manchester Shopping Centre, Mandeville, Manchester, that is controlled
by Burbank Holdings

Company Reserved
Share(s)

means the 5,917,159 Subscription Shares in the Invitation that are reserved
for initial application by employees and the Company Independent Directors
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Directors

means the directors of the Board of the Company whose names are set out in
Section 8 of this Prospectus and/or if the context requires, the directors of the
Board of the Selling Shareholder, each of whom have signed Section 15 of this
Prospectus

Employee Gift
Reserved Share(s)

means the 2,961,834 Subscription Shares in the Invitation that are initially
reserved for a gift to eligible employees of the Company on terms set by the
Company in its sole discretion

Forward Looking
Statements
Financial Services
Commission or FSC
Financial Information
GCT

_____________________________________________________________
means the forward-looking statements in this Prospectus which are disclaimed
by the Company for the reasons set out in Section 5

_____________________________________________________________
means the Financial Services Commission of Jamaica a statutory body
corporate, of 39-43 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5, Saint Andrew

_____________________________________________________________
means the Audited Financial Information and/or the Unaudited Financial
Information

_____________________________________________________________
means General Consumption Tax charged in accordance with the General
Consumption Tax Act of Jamaica

_____________________________________________________________

Independent
Directors

means Jacqueline Sharp and Heather Goldson, the independent nonexecutive
Directors of the Company

Invitation

means the invitation made by the Company on behalf of itself, for subscription of
the Subscription Shares, and on behalf of the Selling Shareholder, for sale of the
Transfer Shares, in each case, subject to the Terms and Conditions

_____________________________________________________________
Invitation Share(s)

Invitation Price

means 249,874,965 Shares in the Invitation in the aggregate, comprising the
Subscription Shares and the Transfer Shares

_____________________________________________________________
means $1.88 per Invitation Share, save for the Company Reserved Shares and
the Employee Reserved Shares which are to be sold at a discounted price of
$1.69 per Share

_____________________________________________________________
Jamaica Stock
Exchange or JSE
Junior Market
Junior Market Rules

means The Jamaica Stock Exchange Limited, a company incorporated in
Jamaica with its registered office at 40 Harbour Street, Kingston

_____________________________________________________________
means the Junior Market trading platform of the JSE established April 2009

_____________________________________________________________
means the rule book of the JSE for the purposes of the Junior Market as amended
from time to time

_____________________________________________________________

Key Customers and
Doctors Reserved
Share(s)

means the 39,855,057 Ordinary Shares in the Invitation that are reserved for
initial application by significant customers of the Company, and prescribing
physicians with a significant relationship with the Company, in each case, as
determined in its sole discretion

Lead Broker and
Sole Listing Agent

means Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited, a company incorporated in Jamaica
with its registered office at 7 Holborn Road, Kingston 10
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___________________________________________________________________
means Jacqueline Sharp, the Mentor of the Company for the purposes of the
Junior Market Rules
___________________________________________________________________
_______________

Mentor

Minimum Amount

means the minimum amount to be raised by the Company for the purposes of
section 48 of the Companies Act from the sale of the Subscription Shares being
$234,040,086.20

______________________________________________________________
Opening Date

means 13 December 2018 at 9:00 a.m.

______________________________________________________________
means this document dated 6 December 2018, which constitutes a prospectus
for the purposes of the Companies Act and the Securities Act

Prospectus
Registrar

means Jamaica Central Securities Depository who is appointed as the registrar
and transfer agent of the Shares of Company
___________________________________________________________________

Reserved Share(s)

means 136,440,163 Shares in the Invitation that are initially reserved for
application by the Reserved Share Applicants, namely: (1) the Company
Reserved Shares, (2) the Employee Gift Reserved Shares, (3) the Strategic
Partners Reserved Shares, and/or (4) the Key Customers and Doctors Reserved
Shares, as the context shall require
___________________________________________________________________

Reserved Share
Applicant(s)
Securities Act
Selling
Shareholder

______________________________________________________________
means the Securities Act of Jamaica, as amended from time to time
__________________________________________________________________
means Burbank Holdings Limited

______________________________________________________________
means the ordinary shares in the capital of the Company inclusive of the Invitation
Shares, where the context so requires

Share(s)

______________________________________________________________

Shareholders

means holders of the Shares from time to time

______________________________________________________________

Strategic Partners
Reserved Share(s)
Subscription
Share(s)
Terms
Conditions

means any person that is eligible to apply for the Reserved Shares, subject to the
Terms and Conditions

means 87,706,113 Shares in the Invitation that are reserved for initial application
by key supporters of the Company, as determined by it in its sole discretion
___________________________________________________________________
means 124,937,565 new Shares to be issued by the Company in the Invitation
___________________________________________________________________

and

means the terms and conditions of the Invitation set out in Section 6 of this
Prospectus
___________________________________________________________________

Transfer Shares

means 124,937,400 existing Shares to be sold by the Company on behalf of the
Selling Shareholder in the Invitation

Unaudited Financial
Information

means the management accounts of the Company for the quarter ended 30
September 2018, set out in Part 2 of Section 11
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$

means the Jamaican dollar unless otherwise indicated

In addition to the foregoing, all references in this Prospectus to the singular shall include the plural and all
references to the plural shall include the singular; and references to a gender shall include the other genders,
in each case, as the context shall require, and clause headings shall be for the sake of convenience only.
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SECTION 5: FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Prospectus may contain ‘forward-looking statements’ which include but may not be limited to
statements of expectations and/or future plans or future prospects, and pro forma financial information and/or
financial projections in the Company.
Forward-looking statements are statements that are not about historical facts and speak only as of the date
they are made, taking into account any assumptions set out in this Prospectus for that purpose. Although the
Directors believe that in making any such statements its expectations are based on reasonable
assumptions, such statements may be influenced by factors that could cause actual outcomes and
results to be materially different from those projected. Prospective investors are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the dates on which they have
been made. Future events or circumstances could cause actual results to differ materially from historical or
anticipated results.
When used in this Prospectus, the words "anticipates", "believes", "expects", "intends", “considers”, “pro forma”,
“forecast”, “projection” and similar expressions, as they relate to the Company, are intended to identify those
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and
uncertainties. There are important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those in
forward-looking statements, certain of which are beyond the Company's (or others’) control. These factors
include, without limitation, the following:
•

economic, social and other conditions prevailing in Jamaica and the CARICOM region, including actual
rates of economic growth, instability and volatility in domestic interest rates and regional and
international exchange rates that impact on the strategic business plan of the Company and/or on
the Financial Information
•
adverse climatic events and natural disasters
•
actual or perceived deficiencies in the Company’s products or services, unfavourable market
receptiveness to the Company’s strategic business plan or its particular line of products and services,
or the availability or relative attractiveness of competitors’ alternative products and services
•
changes in any legislation or policy adversely affecting the regulation of the Company that have adverse
effects on the business of the Company
•
any other factor negatively impacting on the Company whether or not it is currently known, or identified
in this prospectus
•
other factors identified in this Prospectus, and factors as yet unknown to the Board of the Company
and/or the Selling Shareholder
Once this Prospectus has been signed by or on behalf of the Directors of the Company and the Selling
Shareholder, it will not be updated or revised taking into account any of the forward-looking statements made
in it in light of new information or future events, including changes in the Company's financial or regulatory
position, or the occurrence of unanticipated events (subject to any legal or regulatory requirements for
such disclosure to be made).
Neither the FSC nor any Government agency or regulatory authority in Jamaica has made any
determination on the accuracy or adequacy of the matters contained in this Prospectus.
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SECTION 6: TERMS AND CONDITIONS
6.1 Caution to prospective Applicants
Investors should read this entire Prospectus carefully, and seek professional advice on any investment they
propose to make in the Shares. In particular, prospective Applicants should review the Terms and Conditions
of the Invitation in this Section 6, before completing the Application in Appendix 1. By submitting an Application,
an Applicant will be deemed to have accepted all of the Terms and Conditions.
6.2

General Terms and Conditions

(1)

Status and Minimum Age of Applicants

(2)

(a)

All primary applicants must be at least 18 years old and provide proof of identification as is
requested by the Application and/or the Lead Broker and Sole Listing Agent on behalf of the
Company.

(b)

Applications may be made by not more than 2 joint holders who are individuals (with automatic
rights of survivorship in the event of death of either holder) must so state clearly and include the
word “and’ between the names of each holder.

(c)

Applications made be made by several holders (being tenants in common) and are denoted by the
words “and / or” between the names of each holder.

(d)

Reserved Share Applicants must tick the “Reserved Share Applicant” box and provide proof of
their status as requested by the Application and/or the Lead Broker and Sole Listing Agent on
behalf of the Company.

(e)

Applicants who are exempt from the payment of withholding tax on dividends received should so
specify in their Application setting out evidence of their particular exemption. The Registrar (acting
in its sole discretion) must be satisfied with any such evidence before processing any payment on
a withholding tax exempt basis.

Application
All Applicants (whether Reserved Share Applicants, or members of the general public) must submit the
Application provided at Appendix 1 to this Prospectus to Lead Broker and Sole Listing Agent Scotia
Investments Jamaica Limited at any of the locations specified in Appendix 2.

(3)

Acceptance of Terms and Conditions by Applicants
All Applicants will be deemed to have accepted the terms and conditions of the Invitation set out in this
Section 6.

(4)

Further Acknowledgments by Applicants
Each Applicant further acknowledges and agrees that:
(a)

it has been afforded a meaningful opportunity to review this Prospectus (including the terms and
conditions in this Section 6), and to gather and review all additional information considered by it to
be necessary to verify the accuracy of the information contained in this Prospectus;

(b)

it has not relied on any person other than the Directors of the Company and the Selling
Shareholder, who have individual and collective responsibility for the contents of this
Prospectus, in connection with their investigation of the Company and/or any decision as to
whether to take up Invitation Shares;

(c)

no person has made any representation concerning the Company or this Prospectus not contained
herein, on which the Applicant has relied in submitting its Application;

(d)

it has made an independent assessment of the Company, and the merits and risks of subscribing
for or purchasing the Invitation Shares given its unique position and appetite for investment risk,
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inclusive of taking advice (or waiving the need for such advice) from qualified professionals in
relation to the financial, legal and tax implications of making an Application for the Invitation
Shares.
(5)

Minimum Application
Applications from the general public must request a minimum of 5,000 Invitation Shares and additional
increments of 1,000 Invitation Shares above that amount. Applications in other denominations will not be
accepted or processed.

(6)

Invitation Price and Payment
All Invitation Shares are priced at $1.88 per Share, save for the Company Reserved Shares and the
Employee Gift Reserved Shares. A JCSD processing fee of $163.10 (inclusive of GCT) is payable to
the Registrar for each Application. All Applicants should remember to include the processing fee in their
calculations of amounts payable.

(7)

How to Make Payments
All Applications must be accompanied by the appropriate payment in the form of either:
(a)

a manager's cheque made payable to “Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited”, or

(b)

authorisation from the Applicant on the Application instructing Scotia Investments Jamaica
Limited to make payment from cleared funds held in an Investment account in the Applicants’
Name at Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited; or

(c)

transfer in the Real Time Gross Settlement (“RTGS”) system to Scotia Investments Jamaica
Limited in the name of “FONTANA IPO 2018”, in the case of payments of $1 million or more to
the RTGS account of account of the Bank of Nova Scotia, Account No.: 803902 (50765) Scotia
Centre, Duke & Port Royal Streets.

All completed Applications must be delivered to any of the locations set out in Appendix 2 on or before
4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date together with evidence of payment (however made).
(8)

Early Applications and order of processing of Applications
Applications submitted in advance of the Opening Date will be received and checked for
completeness, but not processed. All early Applications will be treated as having been received at
9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date.
Any Applications received from 9:00 a.m. onwards on the Opening Date will be time stamped
for processing in the order in which they were received and dealt with in that same order (e.g. on a
first come first served basis).

(9)

Company’s Discretion as to Acceptance of Applications and Invitation Shares
The Company, may on behalf of itself and the Selling Shareholder, do any one or more of the following
things in its sole discretion, without giving reasons to any person:

(10)

(a)

accept or reject any Application in whole or part, and neither the Company nor the Selling
Shareholder will be liable to any Applicant or any other person for doing so;

(b)

allot the Invitation Shares to Applicants on a pro rata basis (or other basis) in the event the
Invitation or any category of Invitation Shares suffers from excess demand; and

(c)

treat multiple Applications by any person (whether in individual or joint names) as a
single Application.

When Binding Contract is Formed
The submission of an Application by an Applicant will not result in a binding contract with the
Company. Only the final allotment of Invitation Shares to an Applicant, for credit in their account in
the JCSD as described below, on the morning of listing of the Shares will result in a binding contract
under which the Applicant will be deemed to have agreed to take up the allotted Shares, subject to the
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Articles of Incorporation, and these Terms and Conditions.
(11)

When Invitation is Successful
The Invitation will be successful if:
(a)

the Company receives Applications for all of the Subscription Shares by the Closing Date and is
able to raise the Minimum Amount, and

(b)

the Company’s application to the JSE for the Shares to be admitted to trade on the Junior Market
is granted.

In that case, Applicants will be allotted Invitation Shares in dematerialised form, for credit to their JCSD
account specified in their Applications. New shareholders will have a JCSD account opened in their
name. The Registrar will keep the register of Shareholders on behalf of the Company for the purposes
of their listing trading on the Junior Market.
In the event that the Invitation is not successful, all payments received from Applicants will be returned
or refunded to the persons making them within 10 days of the Closing Date. See further under Refunds
at paragraph (13) below.
Applicants may refer to the notices that will be posted on the website of the JSE
(www.jamstockex.com) after the Closing Date for further information.
(12)

Closing Date
The Invitation will open at 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date, 13 December 2018. The Invitation will
close at 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date, 20 December 2018. The Company, may on behalf of itself
and the Selling Shareholder, do any one or more of the following in its sole discretion without giving
reasons to any person:
(a)

close the Invitation at any time after 9:00 a.m. on the Opening Date, and prior to the Closing Date,
if Applications for all of the Invitation Shares have been received, and/or

(b)

extend the Closing Date for any reason, provided that it does not extend beyond the expiration of
40 days after the publication of this prospectus for the purposes of section 48 of the Companies
Act.

In either case an informational notice will be posted on the website of the JSE - www.jamstockex.com.
(13)

Refunds
The Company will endeavour to return cheques or make refunds to Applicants whose Applications are
not accepted, or whose Applications are only accepted in part, within 10 working days after the Closing
Date or as soon as practicable thereafter.
Each Applicant’s returned cheque or refund will be sent to the Lead Broker for collection by the Applicant
(or in the case of multiple Applicants by the first-named joint Applicant) stated in the Application. Any
other persons purporting to collect a cheque on behalf of an Applicant must be authorised in writing to do
so.
Please note that the JCSD processing fee of $163.10 will not be refunded.
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SECTION 7: INFORMATION ABOUT THE COMPANY
7.1

The Company

The Company was established in 1968 at the Manchester Shopping Centre in Mandeville by Shinque “Bobby”
Chang and Angela Chang. Today, the Company is run by Kevin O’Brien Chang (Chairman), Anne Chang
(Chief Executive Officer) and Raymond Therrien (Chief Operating Officer) with the support of the Independent
Directors.
The Fontana brand was built on the following principles which have carried it through its successful 50th
anniversary:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Staying on top of consumer trends
Consistent sourcing of quality products inclusive of Jamaican made products
Engaging with customers and recognising their loyalty through rewards
Empowering employees through training, and a positive work environment
Reinvesting in the existing store network to ensure a positive shopping experience
Commitment to corporate responsibility, activity in local communities and ‘brand Jamaica’

The Company operates a network of leading pharmacies and retail stores in Jamaica with 5 locations across
the island, over 65,000 square feet of combined store space, and 330 members of staff. Its core business is
the sale of pharmaceutical products through licensed pharmacies, but the Company has diversified its product
offering to include vast range of beauty and cosmetic items, housewares, home décor, toys, baby items,
electronic, school and souvenir products.

FONTANA MONTEGO BAY

FONTANA MANDEVILLE

FONTANA BARBICAN

FONTANA OCHI RIOS
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FONTANA SAV-LA-MAR
The Company is developing a new branch at Kingston Waterloo Square which will open in financial year 2019.
It is also seeking further opportunities to expand its branch network to better serve the customer base,
particularly in growing communities such as Montego Bay and Portmore.

FONTANA WATERLOO (OPENING 2019)
The Company’s strategy of customer engagement has resulted in the establishment of a successful loyalty
card programme and an e-commerce platform, Fontanapharmacy.com that is among the most technically
advanced retail e-commerce sites in Jamaica. The latter is supported by a call centre for customer questions.
In a context of increased financial engagement in online shopping by Jamaican consumers the platform is also
used by Jamaicans who live abroad, and foreign purchasers of ‘brand Jamaica’ products all over the world.
The Company has loyal and committed staff. It has also started to add a middle layer of managers inclusive
of a Pharmacy Operations Manager, Inventory Control Manager, Marketing Manager and Beauty Manager as
it prepares for the future.
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Feature: Our 3 Golden Girls

RUTHLYN MAY-SHERWOOD

FAY STEWART- PLUNKETT

PAT FORBES

The successful growth of the Fontana business is underpinned by some of the most dedicated employees
in the country.
Ruthlyn May-Sherwood, Fay Stewart-Plunkett and Pat Forbes have been with Fontana since 1970, 1972
and 1974 respectively. The Company affectionately refers to them as 'The 3 Golden Girls'.
Their combined experience demonstrates 3 fundamental factors in Fontana's continued success over the
last 50 years:
1.

Employee empowerment to engender employee loyalty. This adds to the stability and continuity of
the Company particularly in a period of growth.

2.

Ensuring that staff executes the 'customer comes first' strategy, and demonstrates competence,
integrity, and friendly service.

3.

Promoting a culture of understanding, with modern management techniques, in order to continue
to increase revenue growth.
Feature: Fontana in the Community - Fontana Best Mommy & Baby Initiative
The Government of Jamaica and the Company have partnered on a new
health initiative called 'Fontana Best Mommy & Baby'. The initiative strives
to achieve its stated goal, of having “More Informed mothers = Healthier
and Happier Babies = A Better Jamaica”. The Company is proud to
announce that the Patroness of Fontana Best Mommy and Baby is the
Most Honourable Mrs. Juliet Holness.
The 'Fontana Best Mommy & Baby' informational booklet and video was
created to provide expectant and new mothers with comprehensive
information about antenatal, postnatal and newborn care in Jamaica.
The booklets are to be distributed to pregnant mothers at hospitals and
clinics and posters will be displayed at various clinics and hospitals. The
information will also be available via videos that can be downloaded to
computers and smartphones. The distribution of booklets, posters and
videos is scheduled to begin in early 2019.

As a complement to the information provided by Fontana Best Mommy &
Baby, each new mother at the Mandeville Regional Hospital (MRH) and University Hospital of the West
Indies (UHWI) is currently being presented with a booklet and a gift basket of essential products for
mother and baby including various combinations of Diapers, Wipes, Maternity Pads, Baby Soap Bars,
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Bath Wash, Baby Shampoo, Moisturizer. This Fontana Baby Gift Basket initiative has been made possible
via partnerships with key Fontana suppliers.
7.2

Applicable Regulatory Regime

The business of the Company is regulated by the Pharmacy Council of Jamaica, and the Standards and
Regulation Division of the Ministry of Health.
The Company’s branches are licensed as distribution pharmacies by the Pharmacy Council. The Company
also employs pharmacists at its branches, who are required to hold the necessary personal certifications.
Additionally, the Company’s products are imported to Jamaica subject to permits issued by the Ministry of
Health. The applicable regulatory regime includes the Dangerous Drug Act 1948, the Food and Drug Act 1975,
the Pharmacy Act 1975, and the National Council on Drug Abuse Act 1991 together with regulations and
orders made under the legislation.
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company has the following certifications:

If the Invitation is successful and the Company’s Shares are listed on the Junior Market, it will be subject to
the Junior Market Rules and the provisions of the Securities Act. These Rules and provisions will require the
Company to issue (amongst other things) quarterly and audited annual financial information as well as timely
announcements, and to maintain certain standards of good corporate governance.
7.3

DETAILS OF THE CAPITAL STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY

(1)

Incorporation
The Company was incorporated in Jamaica on 15 November 1968 (reg. no. 6540).

(2)

Recent Capital Restructuring
On 4 December 2018 the shareholders of the Company approved the following actions in preparation
for the Invitation:
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(3)

(4)

•

The adoption of new Articles of Incorporation in a form suitable for a public company

•

The re-registration of the Company as a public company in accordance with the Companies Act

•

The increase of the authorised Share capital by 25,000,000 Shares of no par value and the
subdivision of each such Share into 66.62 Shares

•

The disapplication of any pre-emption rights, howsoever arising, for the purposes of the issue of
new Subscription Shares in the Invitation

•

The listing of the Shares on the Junior Market of the JSE if the Invitation is successful, and the
conversion of all fully paid Shares to stock units in order to facilitate trading on the JSE.

Capital Structure
•

Authorised - 2,664,999,860 Shares

•

Issued prior to the Invitation - 1,124,437,260 Shares

•

Add - Maximum to be issued in the Invitation - 124,937,565 Shares

•

Total issued Shares after successful Invitation - 1,249,374,825 Shares

Shareholdings in the Company Before and After the Invitation
As at the date of this Prospectus, the issued Shares in the capital of the Company were as follows:
Name of Shareholder

# of Shares prior to Invitation

% of Shares prior to Invitation

Burbank Holdings

1,124,437,260

100%

Total

1,124,437,260

100%

After the Closing Date of the Invitation, and assuming that the Invitation Shares are fully taken up by
Applicants from the public and also, by the Reserved Share Applicants, the shareholdings in the
Company will be as follows:

7.4

Name

# of Shares (Stock Units)
after Invitation

% of Shares (Stock Units)
after Invitation (rounded)

Burbank Holdings

999,499,860

80%

Employee Gift

2,961,834

0.24%

Strategic Partners

87,706,113

7.02%

Key Customers and Doctors

39,855,057

3.19%

Company Reserved Shares

5,917,159

0.47%

General Public

113,434,802

9.08%

Total

1,249,374,825

100.00%

Benefits of proposed listing on the JSE Junior Market
The summaries below are set out for the convenience of prospective Applicants. That notwithstanding,
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each prospective Applicant should consult with qualified adviser as to their proposed investment,
inclusive of the types and rates of taxes that are applicable.
(1)

Junior Market concessionary income tax regime
If the Invitation is successful and the Shares are admitted to the Junior Market, the Company will benefit
from a special 10 year concessionary regime under the Income Tax (Amendment) Act 2016. This requires
the Company to remain listed on the JSE for a continuous period of not less than 15 years, and to comply
with all other conditions of the said Act and applicable JSE Rules during that time.
Assuming that is the case, the Company will not be liable to pay corporate income tax in its first 5 years of
listing. It will be liable to pay corporate income tax at half of the usual rate in years 6 to 10 of listing. If the
Company breaches the relevant provisions of the Income Tax Act and/or JSE Rules it may be liable to
repay the tax that was previously remitted. See also the Risk Factors in Section 11.

(2)

Transfers of Shares on the JSE
Transfers of any Shares on the JSE are exempt from transfer tax and stamp duty.

(3)

Dividends
All Shareholders will be subject to income tax on dividends and other distributions, which will be withheld
by the Registrar prior to payment. Dividends received by Jamaican resident Shareholders will usually
be subject to a 15% rate of withholding. Foreign resident Shareholders may be subject to lower or
higher rates of income tax on any dividends they may receive.

7.5

Intellectual and Real Property
As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company has the following interests in real and intellectual property:

Nature of
Interest

Description of Property

Leasehold

Shops No. 7 & 8 comprising
approximately 88,883 square
feet situate at Buckfield Estate,
Ocho Rios Town Centre in the
parish of Saint Ann comprised in
Certificates of Title registered at
Volume 1351 Folio 155 and 157
and
Volume
1389
Folios
643,644,645,646,647,648,649
and 651.

Leasehold

Land registered at Volume 1240
Folio 195, 34 Kings House Road,
Kingston 8.

Leasehold

7693 square feet of commercial
space at Beckford Plaza on land
comprised in Certificate of Title
registered Volume 1183 Folio 112.

Lessor

Watler Bay
Limited

GATS
Limited

Reservas
Limited

Details

Lease commenced on
31 August 2012, it is for
a term of 10 years with
renewal option for an
additional 10 years.

Lease commenced on 1
April 2013, it is for a term
of 10 years with a
r e n e w a l option for
an additional 10 years.

Lease commenced on
24 April 2012, it is for a
term of 5 years with a
renewal option for an
additional 5 years. This
lease is currently being

21

renewed.

Leasehold

ALL those premises on the Ground
Floor situate at property known as
Saint James Park in the parish
of Saint Andrew being 36,261
square feet known as "Saint
James Park" and situated at 12
West
Kings
House
Road,
Kingston 10 in the parish of Saint
Andrew registered at Volume 1505
Folio 608.

Leasehold

PART of ALL THAT parcel of land
part of Bogue Estates in the parish
of Saint James part of land
comprised in Certificate of Title
registered at Volume 1428 Folio 22.
19,125 square feet of retail
commercial space at Fairview
Shopping Centre. Property leased
for a term of 10 years.

New HWT
Limited

Lease to commence on
practical completion of
current
development
(currently estimated for
April 2019) and is for a
term of 10 years with an
option to renew for a
further 10 years.

Frontier
Development
Limited

Leased commenced on
24 August 2010, it is for
a term of 10 years with
an option to renew for a
further 10 years.

Leasehold

Volume 1319 Folio 900, 901 & 902
ALL THAT parcel of land part of
Grey Abbey, Mandeville now
known as part of Manchester
Shopping Centre in the parish of
Manchester being the Strata Lot
numbered five of the Strata Plan,
part of that land comprised in
Certificate of title registered at
Volume 987 Folio 412.

Fontana
Properties
Limited

Lease commenced on 1
July 2018, it is for a
term of 20 years with
an option to renew for
a further 20 years.

Leasehold

Volume 1380 Folio 369, ALL
THAT parcel of land part of Bogue
Estate in the parish of Saint
James being lot numbered thirtysix on the plan of Bogue estate.

Fontana
Properties
Limited

Lease commenced on 1
July 2018, it is for a
term of 20 years with
an option to renew for
a further 20 years.

Nature of Interest

Details
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Trademarks- Proprietary

The Company has today applied to the
Jamaica Intellectual Property Office (JIPO) to
register the following trademarks “Fontana”
“Fontana Pharmacy”
“Fontana Jamaica Since 1968”
Once registration is granted it will take effect
for 10 years from the date of the application,
and it will be renewable for a further 10 year
period on payment of a nominal fee provided
that the trademarks are in use.

7.6

Material Contracts
The following material contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business,
have been entered into by the Company with the following persons (“counterparties”) in the 2 years
preceding the date of this Prospectus:
Date

Effective 1
July
2018

Counterparty

Fontana Properties
Limited, Fontana
Holdings Limited and
Fontana Kingston
Limited

Effective
November
2018

Scotiabank Jamaica
Limited
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November
2018

Scotia Investments
Jamaica Limited

Brief Details
Business and property Amalgamation set out in a Deed of
Amalgamation and Reconstruction with effect from 1 July
2018. Under the Deed, (1) Fontana Limited will acquire the
business and assets of Fontana Holdings and Fontana
Holdings is in due course wound up; (2) Fontana Limited
transfers ownership of real property assets (being land
assets) to Fontana Properties. The said assets have been
leased to Fontana Limited as described in section 7.5 above.
Renewal of existing Scotia facilities for the Company totaling
$278.332 million and US$85,000 in the aggregate, inclusive
of a new loan of $200 million for the purposes of the
development of the Waterloo Square branch in Kingston. The
agreement contains terms and condition that are usual for a
facility of this type including financial reporting and leverage
covenants, and events of default comprising non - payment
within applicable grace periods, cross default, breach of
terms etc. See also the table of security interest still to be
issued and registered in section 7.8.
Agreement appointing Lead Broker and Sole Listing Agent to
the Company in the Invitation. See Section 13 for further
details.

The material contracts include the real property leases described in Section 7.5. These documents will
also be available for inspection as set out in Section 14.
7.7

Litigation
As at the date of this Prospectus, there were no material litigation, arbitration, or similar proceedings
pending or threatened against the Company as defendant, and/or the circumstances which may give

23

rise to such proceedings.
7.8

Charges Registered Against The Company
As at the date of this Prospectus, the following charges (within the meaning of section 93 of the
Companies Act) were registered against the public file of the Company maintained by the Companies
Office of Jamaica (these related to the system of registration prior to the introduction of the Security
Interests in Personal Property Act, 2013) Security

Details

Bill of Sale

Secures indebtedness of J$4,295,000 to First Global Bank Limited and charges the
goods described in the Schedule to the Bill of Sale together with all attachments,
accessories, replacement, improvements and other equipment affixed or attached
thereto.

2013

As at the date of this Prospectus, the following security interests within the meaning of the Security
Interests in Personal Property Act) were registered against the public file of the Company maintained
by the National Security Interests in Personal Property Registry of Jamaica:
Registration Details
Registration # 1008463464 Registered on 2 January 2014 and lapses on 2 January 2024. Secures
indebtedness to Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited. Collateral Description: Grey 2012 Audi Q5.
Registration # 1013965166 Registered on 10 March 2015 and lapses on 10 March 2025. Secures
indebtedness to First Global Bank Limited. Collateral Description: 2015 Hyundai H1 Panel Van.

Registration # 1015252730 Registered on 16 October 2015 and lapses on 16 October 2025. Secures
indebtedness to Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited. Collateral Description: 2016 Toyota Land Cruiser.

Registration # 1015650202 Registered on 16 December 2015 and lapses on 16 December 2025.
Secures indebtedness to First Global Bank Limited. Collateral Description: 2016 Honda CR-V
Motor Car.

Registration # 1019596345 Registered on 6 July 2017 and lapses on 6 July 2027. Secures
indebtedness to The Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited. Collateral Description: 2018 Isuzu
Motor Truck.

The following security interests are not yet registered and are anticipated to be given by the Company
in support of its renewed loan facility:
November 2018

7.9

Existing first ranking Debenture stamped to cover $124.710 million that is to be
amended by Deed of Variation to exclude real property no longer owned by the
Company and upstamped by $157.830 million. To be issued to the Bank of Nova Scotia
Jamaica Limited.

Dividend Policy
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The Board expects to declare and pay an annual dividend to Shareholders that amounts to not less than
25% of net profits available for distribution, subject to there being profits available for that purpose and
also, to the need for the Company to retain earnings for growth and reinvestment from time to time.
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SECTION 8: DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
8.1

Details of the Company’s Directors and Officers
Brief biographical details of the Directors and Mentor of the Company appear below. The Directors’ residential
addresses are set out in Section 13. All of them may be contacted for business purposes at the registered
office of the Company.

BOBBY CHANG, Chairman Emeritus
Shinque (Bobby) Chang is the Chairman Emeritus of the
Board. He was born in 1931 in Watt Town, St. Anne and his
parents then moved to Richmond Park, Mocha Mountain, where
he attended primary school. The school was a good one as
evidenced by the fact that his sister Jean, who also grew up in
Mocha, later became the first woman to get an M.B.A. from
Harvard University and was voted into the Who’s Who of
women in the U.S.A.
Bobby then went to study the London Matriculation at Kingston
Technical High School in 1948. Two weeks later his father died,
and at 17 years old he had to leave school to help his mother run
the family business.
In 1957 he married Angela Chang (née Lym). They had 7
children, 2 of whom (Kevin Chang and Anne Chang) are
executive directors of Fontana. After 10 years of operating a
supermarket in Christiana, Bobby and Angela started Fontana
Pharmacy in November 1968 at Manchester Shopping Centre.
From the start they stressed the importance of always putting the
customer first, empowering employees and having a personal
relationship with key staff members. This approach contributed to
Fontana's success. Angela passed in 2014, and while obviously
not as active as in his heyday, Bobby remains a well-informed
“éminence grise” whose calm counsel and over 50 years of retail
experience provide him with the knowledge to continue to input
into key strategic decisions.

KEVIN O’BRIEN CHANG, Chairman
Kevin O’Brien Chang is the Chairman of the Company. On his
return home from Canada in 1989 he oversaw the growth of the
original Fontana location in Mandeville, which became the then largest pharmacy in Jamaica. Kevin also spearheaded the
opening of Fontana Montego Bay in 1994 and Fontana’s
transformation from a local to a national business.
Kevin holds a BSc in Statistics and an MBA from the University
of Toronto. Before returning to Jamaica, he was Marketing
Systems Manager at Mastercraft Group Development in Toronto
and Ottawa Canada, where he transformed their customer
marketing presentation systems.
He has written two books on Jamaica – ‘Reggae Routes: the
Story of Jamaican Music’ and ‘Jamaica Fi Real: Beauty Vibes
and Culture’. He has written columns for the Jamaica Observer
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and the Jamaica Gleaner since 1998, and hosts a talk show on
NCU91 FM on Sundays from 2-4 pm. He is also a frequent guest
on radio and television as a public affairs analyst.

ANNE CHANG, Chief Executive Officer
Anne Chang is the Chief Executive Officer and has been a
director of the company for the past 18 years. She has oversight
of local and foreign purchasing, supplier relations and marketing.
Anne has also been integral in establishing Fontana’s social
media footprint in Jamaica as well the customer Rewards
program that now boasts over 120,000 members and confirms
Fontana as the premier Jamaican beauty destination for women
of all ages.
Prior to joining Fontana, Anne was a senior executive at Bell
Canada Inc, Canada’s largest telecommunications company for
10 years holding several key positions in Operator Services, Bell
retail centres, Finance and Consumer Marketing.
Anne holds an Honors Bachelor of Commerce degree with a
major in marketing from McMaster University.

RAYMOND THERRIEN, Chief Operating Officer
Raymond (Ray) Therrien is the Chief Operations Officer of the
company and has been a Director of Fontana Limited for the past
18 years. Ray oversees all aspects of Finance for the
organization. His main responsibilities are overseeing the day to
day operations of the organization with key areas of focus being
the pharmacy department and logistics for all overseas
purchasing. He has been instrumental in the expansion of the
Fontana brand in Montego Bay, Sav La Mar, Ocho Rios and
Kingston.
Prior to joining Fontana, Ray held senior sales and marketing
roles for some of Canada’s largest pharmaceutical companies
including Sanofi Aventis and Roche. Mr. Therrien holds a BSc in
Mathematics from McMaster University, Hamilton, Canada.
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JACQUELINE SHARP, Independent Non-Executive Director &
Mentor
Jacqueline (Jackie) Sharp is a director of her family’s business,
Coffee Traders Limited. She has over 26 years of experience in
the financial services industry in Jamaica, of which 20 years were
spent with the Scotia Group. Jackie has led different divisions at
Scotia, and her final role was Chief Executive, where she led the
profitable growth of the operations in Jamaica, with oversight of
4 other countries in the Caribbean.
Jackie is also President of the UWI Alumni Association and sits
on the Board of Coffee Traders Limited, Clifton Mount Coffee
Estate Limited, CAPRI, and Grace Kennedy Foods. Jackie holds
a BSc. degree with honours in Accounting from UWI, is a CFA
Charter Holder and has successfully completed the CPA
examination. She has also completed Executive Education
programmes at Richard Ivey Business School in Canada and
Duke University, USA.

HEATHER GOLDSON, Independent Non-Executive Director
Heather Goldson is a non-executive Director of the Company
and is currently the Chief Marketing Officer – Group Commercial
and Branding at Supreme Ventures Limited. She has previously
held senior marketing positions at Scotia Group Jamaica and
Digicel Jamaica Limited.
Heather holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration in
International Business and Management from Florida
International University.

8.3

Directors’ Interests In Ordinary Shares
The Directors’ interests in the Ordinary Shares of the Company (including legal and beneficial holdings) as
at the date of this Prospectus are set out below:
Name

% of issued Shares before
Invitation

% of issued Shares after
successful Invitation

Shinque (Bobby) Chang
Kevin O’Brien Chang
Anne Chang

100% (via Burbank Holdings)

80% (via Burbank Holdings)

Raymond Therrien
Total

100%

80%

28

The Independent Directors are eligible to subscribe for the Company Reserved Shares in the Invitation
provided that doing so does not compromise their status in accordance with established principles
of corporate governance in Jamaica as applied by the Junior Market Rules. No Director has options in
respect of Shares, in consideration of the services rendered by him or her to the Company.
8.4

Corporate Governance and Accountability
The Board has established the following committees in accordance with the Securities Act and regulations
made thereunder, and Junior Market Rules of the JSE. The members of each committee of the Board and
a summary of its terms of reference are as follows:
Audit and Compliance Committee

Terms of Reference

Jacqueline Sharp (Independent Chairman)
Heather Goldson (Independent Member)

Oversight of good fiscal discipline, financial
reporting, timely disclosure, and general
compliance with Junior Market Rules.

Raymond Therrien (Member)

Compensation Committee

Terms of Reference

Jacqueline Sharp (Independent Chairman)
Heather Goldson (Independent Member)
Anne Chang (Member)

8.5

Oversight of the Company’s remuneration
arrangements for the executive Directors and
officers.

Directors’ Fees
The Independent Directors receive a stipend of $40,000 and reimbursement of reasonable fees and expenses,
for attendance at each meeting of the Board of the Company, and $30,000 for each meeting of any Committee
thereof. The Independent Directors are also paid an annual retainer of $540,000 paid in monthly instalments
of $45,000.
The executive Directors’ emoluments inclusive of salaries and benefits amounted to $65 million in the
aggregate in the last audited financial year of the Company. This year, their emoluments are expected to
amount $75 million in the aggregate. Going forward, all compensation arrangements will be subject to review
and approval by the Compensation Committee.
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SECTION 9: MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
9.1

History of the Company and its Operations

(1)

About the Company
The Company operates a 5 branch network of pharmacy and retail stores in Jamaica with over
65,000 square feet of combined store space, and 330 members of staff. Its core business
remains the sale of pharmaceutical products but the Company has diversified its product offering to
cover a vast range of beauty and cosmetic items, housewares, home décor, toys, baby items,
electronic, school and souvenir products. The Company has executed a growth strategy that has
enabled it to broaden its influence in Jamaica’s key population centres and business districts, that has
made Fontana a ‘household name’ in Jamaica.

(2)

Financial Performance – Audited Financial Information

n

(3)

Revenue Analysis
The Company recorded revenues of $3.4 billion in financial year 2018, representing an increase of
$272 million or 8.66% over the prior year and an increase of approximately 91% from $1.76
billion in 2014, reflecting a Compound Average Growth Rate (CAGR) of 17.63%.
The growth in the Company’s revenues over the period from financial year 2015 to 2018 is
supported by the strong Fontana brand initiative, which ensures the provision of a wide range of
products available at competitive prices. The Directors also note that revenue growth is driven by
good customer service, customer engagement via the loyalty card programme, online sales to both
Jamaican and international customers, and island wide delivery.
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The Company chooses to open branch locations where it considers there are opportunities for strong
sales. For that reason, in March 2013 it took over the former Azmart location in Barbican Square,
Kingston and opened its Ocho Rios location later that year in November 2013. The Company has seen
significant growth in sales from these locations during the financial years under review: the Kingston
and Ocho Rios branches now represent 27% and 16% of the total sales of the Company, respectively.
Revenues from the Ocho Rios branch increased from $112.8 million in 2014 to $535.7 million in 2018,
a CAGR of 47.6%. Revenues from the Kingston branch also grew at an average of 20% per annum from
financial year 2014 ($508.4 million) to 2017 ($870.7 million) but slowed to 5% in financial year 2018.

The Company’s revenues have grown significantly over the 5 financial years under review, however its
revenue growth in financial year 2018 was negatively impacted by months of roadworks near to the
Kingston store at Barbican Square which temporarily reduced client access to the location, and by the
State of Emergency in Montego Bay that forced the Fairview branch to shorten its opening hours and
decreased traffic overall. The Montego Bay and Barbican Square locations together represented
62% of total revenues in financial year 2018, down from 63% in the prior year. Accordingly, revenue
grew at a lower rate than Costs of Sales and Administrative and other expenses, and operating
profit fell 7.07% to $346 million in financial year 2018, from $372 million in financial year 2017.
Fontana recorded EBITDA of $345 million in financial year 2018 which represents a decrease of $19
million or 5.18% relative to the $364 million recorded in the previous year. EBITDA growth has averaged
over 40% in prior years and the reduced performance in financial year 2018 again reflects the impact of
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slowing store growth in Kingston and Montego Bay, due to roadworks and the State of Emergency
respectively.
The Company operates a fairly flat management structure, however it has started to add a middle layer
of management inclusive of a Pharmacy Operations Manager, Inventory Control Manager, Marketing
Manager and Beauty Manager to manage the growing needs of the Company as it prepares for the
opening of the new Kingston Waterloo Square location in financial year 2019. This has resulted in a 14%
increase in compensation from $357.1 million in FY2017 to $405.1 million in FY2018, with an associated
impact on overall profitability.

EBITDA
$400,000,000
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$200,000,000
$150,000,000

Net profit for financial year 2018 decreased 5.57% over 2017, moving from $262 million in 2017 to
$247 million in 2018 as a result of the aforementioned challenges.

Net Profit
$300,000,000
$250,000,000
$200,000,000
$150,000,000
$100,000,000

Despite the temporary slowdown in revenue growth, Gross Profit margins remained strong at 37.7% in
financial year 2018, compared to 33% in 2014. The maintenance of robust margins reflects the
Company’s ability to source products at competitive prices in the local and overseas markets. The
Company currently sources approximately 75% of total purchases locally inclusive of
pharmaceuticals, over the counter drugs, cosmetics and beauty supplies. The bulk of the higher margin
items such as toys, housewares, and gift items are typically imported from overseas markets:
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Source Countries

Share of Total Higher Margin items imported – FY2018

USA

50%

Canada

25%

Panama

15%

China

10%

The sourcing strategy resulted in an average annual increase in Cost of Sales of 15.7% over the
financial years from 2015 to 2018, the latter period being lower than the average increase in sales of
17.6%, sustaining healthy Gross Margins.
Amidst the challenges to revenue growth experienced in financial year 2018, the Company sought to
reduce the rate of growth of its expenses. The Company’s average increase in Cost of Sales over the
financial years from 2014 to 2017 was 17.4% but the same metric increased only 10.44% in financial
year 2018 relative to 2017.
Administrative and Other Expenses increased an average of 20% in each financial year from 2014 to
2017, but the same metric increased only 12.19% in financial 2018 relative to the previous year.
Increases in Administrative and Other Expenses in financial year 2018 over 2017 were driven by
increases in Salaries and Directors Emoluments which increased by 13.75% and 22.57%,
respectively.
Fontana’s EBITDA Margin and Net Profit Margin were 10.10% and 7.24% respectively in financial year
2018, down from 11.61% and 8.33% in the previous financial year.

EBITDA Margin
14.00%
12.00%
10.00%

The Company’s Current Ratio was 2.13 in financial year 2018 and has averaged 1.67 over the last 5
financial years. This represents a more than adequate ability to meet short term obligations.
Receivables Turnover
The Company’s liquidity position has been supported by its ability to efficiently collect its receivables, as
indicated by a turnover ratio of 43.2x, which suggests that it takes less than a week on average to collect
outstanding amounts from customers. Of significance, the turnover ratio in financial year 2018 is lower
than the average turnover ratio of 53.7x that resulted in the financial years from 2015 to 2017,
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underscoring increasing levels of efficiency in collecting receivables over time.

Inventory Turnover
Fontana purchased and sold its inventory approximately 3.7 times during financial year 2018, a decline
relative to financial year 2017 (3.8. times). This slight decline could be attributed to the decline in
business activity at the Montego Bay and Barbican Square locations. For the period from financial year
2015 to 2018, the Company maintained inventory turnover in the range of 3.7x to 4x (average of 3.8x)
in a context where inventory increased by a CAGR of 11.5% over the period.
Debt Ratios
The Company’s growth was accomplished without incurring significant amounts of debt. Total long term
debt in financial year 2018 was only $120M, consisting of loans from Scotia Jamaica and a private
bond (note) related to the purchase of the Barbican Square store. This resulted in a Debt/Equity ratio of
11% and an equally notable Debt/EBITDA ratio of 0.35x.
The Company’s interest coverage ratio has moved from 5.1x in 2014 to 5.4x in 2018, which reflects
very low leverage. The Company has renewed its facilities with Scotia to include an additional facility (~
$200 million) to fund its new store at Waterloo Square, Kingston, however the Directors consider that
there will be no significant impact on its leverage ratios as the Company intends to repay a portion of
this debt with the proceeds of a successful Invitation.

Debt/EBITDA

(4)

Financial Position

BALANCE SHEETS
J$
ASSETS

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant
and equipment
Intangible Assets
Other NonCurrent Assets

250,492,473

274,937,177

295,343,212

502,491,181

508,461,411

3,115,437

32,414,783

58,844,769

811,812

253,607,910

307,351,960

354,187,981

503,302,993

673,922,556

381,583,214
21,165,257

393,889,196
67,788,215

458,931,948
150,186,378

549,696,807
192,359,382

589,111,431
253,840,702

23,280,435

41,958,453

62,347,778

93,805,828

64,258,853

426,028,906
679,636,816

235,057
503,870,921
811,222,881

2,643,284
674,109,388
1,028,297,369

64,144,753
900,006,770
1,403,309,763

101,058,464
1,008,269,450
1,682,192,006

165,461,145

Current Assets
Inventories
Cash and
cash
Trade and
other
Other Current Assets
Total Assets
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EQUITY
Non-Current liabilities
Long term debt
Other Non-Current
liabilities

116,360,591

195,277,586

390,367,744

817,167,283

1,064,473,642

62,399,266

79,764,358

50,722,209

36,972,197

63,384,714

209,613,806

174,704,102

128,923,412

110,266,772

72,815,250

272,013,072

254,468,460

179,645,621

147,238,969

136,199,964

200,212,552

302,378,023

371,833,411

358,268,350

396,030,086

20,196,636

36,073,512

35,373,273

32,787,950

56,768,273

70,853,965

23,025,300

51,077,320

47,847,211

28,720,041

291,263,153
679,636,816

361,476,835
811,222,881

458,284,004
1,028,297,369

438,903,511
1,403,309,763

481,518,400
1,682,192,006

Current Liabilities
Trade and other
payables
Current portion of
long term debt
Other Current
Liabilities
TOTAL EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES

With the successful execution of its growth strategy the Company has experienced a substantial
expansion of its balance sheets in the five most recent financial years. Total Assets increased 147.5%
over 2014 levels, a CAGR of 25.4%. This was largely driven by Operating Assets that increased with the
expansion of the Company’s operations during the period. The key driver categories have been Cash and
cash equivalents and Inventories which reflected CAGRs of 86% and 11.5%, respectively over the period.
Non-Current Assets also increased over the 5 year period under review by an annual average of 28%.
This increase was largely driven by Property, plant and equipment (CAGR 19%) reflecting the necessary
investments in fixed assets to support growth in the business.
Trends in the Company’s liabilities have been largely dictated by movements in the Trade and Other
payables category, which increased to $396 million in financial year 2018, up by 10.5% from $358 million
in 2017 and 98% over 2014, a CAGR of 18.6%. This increase is consistent with the growth in operations
over the period. Of significance there has been no sustained increase in debt levels as the Company has,
by and large, financed its growth with internally generated funds.
The balance sheet reflects J$1.1 billion in equity, up $247.3 million or 30.3% over financial year 2017 and
an approximate nine-fold increase over financial 2014 levels, reflecting a CAGR of 74%. The equity
position has increased steadily over the 5 financial years from 2014 to 2018 due to the accumulation of
surpluses over time.
(5)

Management Outlook – Unaudited Financial Information
The Directors of the Company expect total sales to rebound in the next financial year given the
completion of the roadworks that affected the Barbican store in Kingston, and the opening of the Waterloo
Square branch. The Unaudited Financial Information for the period 1 July to 30 September 2018 (Q1)
reflects total revenues of $936 million, a 5.5% increase relative to the $887 million recorded over the
similar 3-month period in 2017. Profit before tax increased by 352% from $11.49 million in Q1 2017 to
$52.05 million in Q1 2018. The Company has not paid a dividend in several years, therefore, it intends to
pay a dividend of the Jamaican equivalent of US$300,000 to its sole shareholder, before the opening of
the Invitation.
There was a material revaluation of the Company’s assets based on a valuation done in May and
October 2016 which led to a re-statement of the non-current asset in the 2018 Audited Financials from $
84,796,374 (the acquisition cost plus capital expenditure for improvements in 2013) to $302,000,000.
The Company also underwent a reconstruction exercise which saw the amalgamation and transfer of the
Company’s property assets in consideration for its liabilities. The Company now leases these property
assets from its affiliates. Details are provided in Section 7.5.
The Company has also declared a dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2018 that is
payable on 30 November 2018. No other dividends have been paid by the Company in the 5 year period
represented by the Audited Financial Information. The dividend policy of the Company is described in 35

Section 7.13.
The Montego Bay State of Emergency continues to affect the Fairview branch, however the Directors
believe that the opening of the new Waterloo Square location in Kingston will add 28,000 square feet
of retail space that will increase the Company’s overall retail footprint by over 40% and bolster sales. The
new location was designed to provide customers with a new shopping experience, including an escalator
and elevator. In doing so the Company’s intention is to lead the retail market with innovative concepts,
marketing and ease of shopping.
The Directors further anticipate that the Waterloo Square store will enable the Company to negotiate
more favourable terms and rebates with key pharmaceutical partners on the local purchasing side.
On the foreign purchasing side, an anticipated increase in total sales will provide the Company with
greater critical mass to support the sourcing of higher volumes of inventory directly from China with a
significantly greater margin.
Going forward, the Directors’ strategy will continue to leverage cost effective sourcing arrangements
both locally and abroad, so as to maintain its margins and competitive advantage. Given that approximately
25% of the products sold by the Company are imported, the Directors are mindful of recent international
trade tensions and tariff changes and their potential impact on the Company’s supply chains and pricing
in the near to medium term. The Directors are also mindful of the risks arising from potential regulatory
changes, particularly with respect to consumption taxes.
Recent strategic initiatives by the Directors have been geared towards improving the overall
management of inventory procedures and maintaining strong margins. That notwithstanding, they
maintain the Company’s abiding commitment to the Jamaican economy by pursuing a primarily local
purchasing strategy, aggressively promoting local entrepreneurs and locally made products, and fostering
wider access to the Jamaican market through our e-commerce initiative.
The Company also considers that the online store, fontanapharmacy.com has the potential to
contribute even more to its future growth. In addition to being a sales channel, the Directors consider
that the online store provides the Company with a marketing tool for local customers who wish to see
what is available at Fontana before going to a branch. The Directors anticipate that the retail industry
will continue to become more and more competitive as smaller niche players continue to serve specific
areas of the Company’s large customer base. Online sales and imported items through Amazon and
other e-commerce channels reinforces the Company’s need for strong short and long-term strategic plans
for fontanapharmacy.com.
The Company is actively seeking yet another location to serve the growing demand from customers
in Portmore, St. Catherine, which has potential for strong future revenue growth. The Directors are also
monitoring opportunities for expansion in the Montego Bay area. With the expansion of the overall
retail footprint it is expected that the Company will reap benefits from increased economies of scale as
its administrative, sales and promotional expenses will be spread over a wider revenue base.
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SECTION 10 FINANCIAL INFORMATION
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Part 1: Audited Financial Information
AUDITED INCOME STATEMENTS
J$

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Revenues

1,785,094,621

2,242,627,088

2,719,452,374

3,145,274,038

3,417,735,335

Cost of Sales

1,189,868,242

1,476,908,082

1,722,761,808

1,927,476,041

2,128,685,330

Gross Profit

595,226,379

765,719,006

996,690,566

1,217,797,997

1,289,050,005

Administrative
and Other
Expenses
Selling and
Promotion
Expenses
Operating
Profit
Other Income

442,579,432

524,614,097

628,900,072

777,195,695

871,904,383

40,942,966

54,234,005

67,440,010

68,426,898

71,269,390

111,703,981

186,870,904

300,350,484

372,175,404

345,876,232

15,594,188

26,133,842

30,163,504

37,580,664

33,277,734

77,795,362

97,855,566

93,535,736

88,211,244

76,090,725

49,502,806

115,149,180

236,978,252

321,544,824

303,063,241

6,551,217

36,232,185

41,888,094

59,659,811

55,756,882

42,951,589

78,916,995

195,090,158

261,885,013

247,306,359

Finance and
Policy Costs
Profit Before
Taxation
Taxation
Charge
Net Profit
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Part 1: Audited Financial Information (continued)
AUDITED BALANCE SHEETS
J$

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

250,492,473

274,937,177

295,343,212

502,491,181

508,461,411

ASSETS
Non - Current Assets
Property, plant and
equipment
Intangible asset
Other non-current
assets

-

-

-

-

165,461,145

3,115,437

32,414,783

58,844,769

811,812

-

253,607,910

307,351,960

354,187,981

503,302,993

673,922,556

Inventories

381,583,214

393,889,196

458,931,948

549,696,807

589,111,431

Cash and cash
equivalents
Trade and other
receivables
Other Current Assets

21,165,257

67,788,215

150,186,378

192,359,382

253,840,702

23,280,435

41,958,453

62,347,778

93,805,828

64,258,853

-

235,057

2,643,284

64,144,753

101,058,464

426,028,906

503,870,921

674,109,388

900,006,770

1 ,008,269,450

679,636,816

811,222,881

1,028,297,369

1,403,309,763

1,682,192,006

116,360,591

195,277,586

390,367,744

817,167,283

1,064,473,642

62,399,266

79,764,358

50,722,209

36,972,197

63,384,714

209,613,806

174,704,102

128,923,412

110,266,772

72,815,250

272,013,072

254,468,460

179,645,621

147,238,969

136,199,964

200,212,552

302,378,023

371,833,411

358,268,350

396,030,086

20,196,636

36,073,512

35,373,273

32,787,950

56,768,273

70,853,965

23,025,300

51,077,320

47,847,211

28,720,041

291,263,153

361,476,835

458,284,004

438,903,511

481,518,400

679,636,816

811,222,881

1,028,297,369

1,403,309,763

1,682,192,006

Current Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY

Non-Current liabilities
Long term debt
Other Non-Current
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Trade and other
payables
Current portion of
long term debt
Other current
Liabilities

TOTAL EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
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Part 1: Audited Financial Information (continued)
AUDITED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 – 2018
Share Capital

Accumulated
Surplus
J$

Total

J$

Revaluation
Reserve
J$

Balance at June 30, 2014
Comprehensive income:
Net profit for the year

30,006,000
-

-

86,354,591
78,916,995

116,360,591
78,916,995

Balance at June 30, 2015
Comprehensive income:
Net profit for the year

30,006,000
-

-

165,271,586
195,090,158

195,277,586
195,090,158

Balance at June 30, 2016
Comprehensive income:
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation of buildings
Deferred taxation on revalued
buildings
Total comprehensive income for
the year

30,006,000
-

-

360,361,744
261,885,013

390,367,744
261,885,013

-

219,897,700

-

219,897,700

-

(54,983,174)

-

(54,983,174)

-

164,914,526

261,885,013

426,799,539

Balance at June 30, 2017
Comprehensive income:
Net profit for the year
Total comprehensive income for
the year

30,006,000
-

164,914,526
-

622,246,757
247,306,359

817,167,283
247,306,359

-

-

247,306,359

247,306,359

Balance at June 30, 2018

30,006,000

164,914,526

869,553,116

1,064,473,642

J$
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Part 1: Audited Financial Information (continued)
AUDITED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE FINANCIAL YEARS ENDED 30 JUNE J$
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
2014
2015
2016
2017
2018
ACTIVITIES:
Profit before interest and taxation
Adjustments for items not affecting cash
resources:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation

Decrease / (increase) in operating assets:
Inventories
Taxation recoverable
Deposit on asset
Due to related parties
Trade and other receivables
Advances on property
Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Trade and other payables
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Taxation paid
Net cash provided by operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and
equipment
Due to related party
Notes payable
Addition to intangible asset
Finance lease asset
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans
Repayment of loans
Finance lease obligation
Proceeds from/(repayment of) directors' loans
Interest paid
Net cash used in financing activities
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Beginning of the year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of
the year
REPRESENTED BY:
Bank overdraft
Short term investments
Cash and bank deposits

67,685,819

129,019,304

251,472,081

330,765,309

309,455,272

24,810,193
92,187,512

27,498,646
156,517,950

28,196,785
279,668,866

33,259,723
364,025,032

35,700,059
345,155,331

(104,756,446)
924,405
4,135,346
11,718,607

(12,305,983)
(18,678,017)
-

(65,042,753)
(19,950,882)
-

(90,764,860)
(40,547,451)
(31,896,491)
-

(39,414,624)
(69,184,507)
60,617,537
29,546,975
-

(4,592,472)
(383,048)

102,165,468
227,699,418

69,455,387
264,130,618

(13,565,082)
187,251,148

37,761,735
364,482,447

(4,638,198)
(5,021,246)

(10,219,388)
217,480,030

(26,184,834)
237,945,784

(52,115,504)
135,135,644

(67,284,718)
297,197,729

883,500

-

-

-

-

2,075,080
(113,279,192)
(110,320,612)

(32,640,458)
2,880,380
(51,943,348)
(81,703,426)

(22,391,193)
(6,221,345)
(48,602,820)
(77,215,358)

2,643,284
(20,509,992)
(17,866,708)

77,529,440
(165,461,145)
3,001,306
(41,670,289)
(126,600,688)

39,413,300
(17,080,627)
(2,115,737)
70,865,504
(18,183,013)
72,899,427
(42,442,431)

63,618,549
(30,376,581)
(2,839,723)
(46,371,377)
(13,870,124)
(29,839,256)
105,937,348

4,750,000
(34,492,388)
6,221,345
(49,544,303)
(14,493,829)
(87,559,175)
73,171,251

116,775,258
(133,110,573)
(2,643,284)
(35,533,481)
(9,220,484)
(63,732,564)
53,536,372

7,331,468
(34,468,067)
(3,001,306)
(71,085,512)
(6,392,032)
(107,615,449)
62,981,592

656,568

(41,785,863)

64,151,487

137,322,738

190,859,110

(41,785,863)

64,151,487

137,322,738

190,859,110

253,840,702

(62,951,120)
21,165,257
(41,785,863)

(3,636,728)
67,788,215
64,151,487

(13,302,082)
438,442
150,186,378
137,322,738

(1,500,272)
28,429,056
163,930,326
190,859,110

36,666,795
217,173,907
253,840,702

(308,500)
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Page 2

Independent Auditor's Report (cont'd)
To the members of
FONTANA LIMITED
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that presents a true and fair view.
We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

Cont. /3
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Page 5

FONTANA LIMITED
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Note

2018
$

2017
$

Revenues

4

3,417,735,335

3,145,274,038

Cost of sales

23

(2,128,685,330)

(1,927,476,041)

1,289,050,005

1,217,797,997

871,904,383
71,269,390

777,195,695
68,426,898

943,173,773

845,622,593

Gross profit
Administrative and other expenses
Selling and promotion

24
25

Operating profit

26

345,876,232

372,175,404

Other income

27

33,277,734

37,580,664

379,153,966

409,756,068

Finance and policy costs

28

Profit before taxation
Taxation charge
Net profit for the year

76,090,725
303,063,241

29

55,756,882
247,306,359

88,211,244 *
321,544,824
59,659,811 *
261,885,013

Other comprehensive income
Items that are or may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss:
Revaluation of buildings
Deferred taxation on revaluation

-

222,408,113 *
(55,602,028) *

Total other comprehensive income

-

166,806,085

Total comprehensive income for the year

247,306,359

428,691,098

*-Restated to conform to current year presentation
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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FONTANA LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Share
Capital
$
Balance at June 30, 2016
Comprehensive income:
Net profit for the year

Other comprehensive income:
Revaluation of buildings (note 5)
Deferred taxation on revalued
buildings (note 17)
Total comprehensive income
for the year
Balance at June 30, 2017
Comprehensive income:
Net profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year
Balance at June 30, 2018

30,006,000
-

Revaluation
Reserve
$

Accumulated
Surplus
$

Total
$

-

360,361,744

390,367,744

-

261,885,013

261,885,013

-

219,897,700

-

219,897,700 *

-

(54,983,174)

-

(54,983,174) *

-

164,914,526

261,885,013

426,799,539

164,914,526

622,246,757

817,167,283

30,006,000
-

-

247,306,359

247,306,359

-

-

247,306,359

247,306,359

869,553,116

1,064,473,642

30,006,000

164,914,526

*-Restated to conform to current year presentation
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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FONTANA LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
Note
2018
$

2017
$

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit before interest and taxation

309,455,272

330,765,309

35,700,059

33,259,723

345,155,331

364,025,032

(39,414,624)
(69,184,507)
60,617,537
29,546,975

(90,764,860)
(40,547,451)
(31,896,491)

Increase / (decrease) in operating liabilities:
Trade and other payables

37,761,735

(13,565,082)

Cash flows provided by operating activities

364,482,447

187,251,148

Taxation paid

(67,284,718)

(52,115,504)

Net cash provided by operating activities

297,197,729

135,135,644

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Notes payable
Addition to intangible asset
Finance lease asset
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

77,529,440
(165,461,145)
3,001,306
(41,670,289)

2,643,284
(20,509,992)

Net cash used in investing activities

(126,600,688)

(17,866,708)

7,331,468
(34,468,067)
(3,001,306)
(71,085,512)
(6,392,032)

116,775,258
(133,110,573)
(2,643,284)
(35,533,481)
(9,220,484)

(107,615,449)

(63,732,564)

62,981,592

53,536,372

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of the year

190,859,110

137,322,738

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of the year

253,840,702

190,859,110

REPRESENTED BY:
Bank overdraft
Short term investments
Cash and bank deposits

36,666,795
217,173,907

(1,500,272)
28,429,056
163,930,326

253,840,702

190,859,110

Adjustments for items not affecting cash resources:
Depreciation

Decrease / (increase) in operating assets:
Inventories
Deposit on asset
Due to related parties
Trade and other receivables

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans
Repayment of loans
Finance lease obligation
Repayment of directors' loans
Interest paid
Net cash used in financing activities

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

30

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
1.

IDENTIFICATION
Fontana Limited (the "Company") is incorporated in Jamaica, under the Jamaican Companies Act (the
"Act").
The Company is domiciled in Jamaica with its registered office at Manchester Shopping Center,
Mandeville Manchester.
The principal business of the Company is:
(a) The buying and selling of pharmaceuticals, and
(b) The retailing of associated products

2.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
(a)

Statement of Compliance
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance and comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") and the relevant requirements of the Act.
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention and are
expressed in Jamaican dollars, unless otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS and the Act requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses for the year then ended. Actual results could differ from these estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of revision and future periods, if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
There are no significant assumptions and judgements applied in these financial statements that
carry a risk of material adjustment in the next financial year.
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
2.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)
(b) Changes in accounting standards and interpretations:
The Company has identified the following revised or new International Financial Reporting
Standards or Interpretations which have been issued but are not yet effective, and which have
not been adopted early. Those that are considered relevant to the Company’s operations are:
•

IFRS 9 'Financial instruments 2014, Amendment', issued July 2014. Effective for periods
commencing on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 9 was issued as a complete standard
including the requirements previously issued and the additional amendments to introduce
a new expected loss impairment model and limited changes to the classification and
measurement requirements for financial assets.

•

IAS 12 Income Taxes - issued in December 2017, Effective for annual period beginning
on or after January 1, 2019. IAS 12 Income Taxes implements a so-called 'comprehensive
balance sheet method' of accounting for income taxes which recognises both the current
tax consequences of transactions and events and the future tax consequences of the future
recovery or settlement of the carrying amount of an entity's assets and liabilities.
Differences between the carrying amount and tax base of assets and liabilities, and carried
forward tax losses and credits, are recognised, with limited exceptions, as deferred tax
liabilities or deferred tax assets, with the latter also being subject to a 'probable profits'
test.

•

IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers', issued April, 2016. Effective for
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2018. IFRS 15 specifies how and when an IFRS
reporter will recognise revenue as well as requiring such entities to provide users of
financial statements with more informative, relevant disclosures. The standard provides a
single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers.

•

IFRS 16 'Leases' issued in January 2016, Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2019. IFRS 16 specifies how an IFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present
and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring
lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months
or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as
operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting substantially
unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17.
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
2.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

(b) Changes in accounting standards and interpretations (cont'd):
•

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, issued in October 2017, Effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. IAS 28 Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures (as amended in 2011) outlines how to apply, with certain limited exceptions, the
equity method to investments in associates and joint ventures. The standard also defines an
associate by reference to the concept of "significant influence", which requires power to
participate in financial and operating policy decisions of an investee (but not joint control or
control of those polices).

•

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration issued in December
2016, Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The Interpretation
covers foreign currency transactions when an entity recognises a non-monetary asset or nonmonetary liability arising from the payment or receipt of advance consideration before the entity
recognises the related asset, expense or income. It does not apply when an entity measures the
related asset, expense or income on initial recognition at fair value ot at the fair value of the
consideration received to paid at a date other than the date of initial recognition of the nonmonetary asset or non-monetary liability. Also, the Interpretation need not be applied to income
taxes, insurance contracts or reinsurance contracts.

•

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments issued in June 2017, Effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The interpretation is to be applied to the
determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and
tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax treatments under IAS 12.
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(a)

Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes, are recorded and carried at historical or deemed cost, less any
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Except
for buildings, which are carried at fair value less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost
of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the carrying amount
of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the part will flow to
the Company and its cost can be reliably measured.
The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the statement
of comprehensive income as incurred.
With the exception of freehold land, on which no depreciation is provided, property, plant and
equipment is depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of such assets.
The rates of depreciation in use are:
Buildings
2.5%
Leasehold Improvements
2.5%
Machinery and Equipment
10%
Furniture and Fixtures
10%
Motor Vehicles
12.5%
Computers
22.5%
Assets are capitalized only when they are brought into use. While an asset is being constructed
or is not yet available for use; the expenditure, including borrowing costs, is treated as advances,
and is shown separately in the statement of financial position. Depreciation is not raised until an
asset is brought into use.

(b) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated at amortized cost.
Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognized in the statement of
comprehensive income when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.
(c)

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are stated at amortized cost.

(d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting shortterm cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes.
(e)

Inventories
Inventories comprising raw material, work in progress and finished products are valued at the
lower of cost, determined principally on the first-in first-out (FIFO) basis, and net realizable
value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
estimated selling expenses.
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
(f)

Related party identification
A party is related to the Company if:
(i) directly or indirectly the party:
- controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with the Company;
- has an interest in the Company that gives it significant influence over the Company; or
- has joint control over the Company.
(ii)

the party is an associate of the Company

(iii)

the party is a joint venture in which the Company is a venturer;

(iv)

the party is a member of the key management personnel of the Company

(v)

the party is a close member of the family of an individual referred to in (i) or (iv) above

(vi)

the party is an entity that is controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by, or
for which significant coting power in such entity resides with, directly or indirectly, any
individual referred to in (iv) or (v) above.

(vii) the party is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Company,
or of any company that is a related party of the Company.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between related
parties, regardless of whether a price is charged.
(g)

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of income tax currently payable and deferred tax.
(i)

Current income tax
Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using
tax rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustments to income tax payable in respect
of previous years.

(ii)

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method, providing for
temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognized to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
(h)

Goodwill
Goodwill which represents contracts rights with vendors and an existing customer base are deemed
to have indefinite life. Goodwill is carried at costs less impairment. The Company assesses
goodwill for impairment at least on an annual basis or when events or circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired.
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
(i)

Investments
Investments held by the Company are either held to maturity or carried at fair value through
profit and loss account. Investments are initially measured at cost. Held to maturity
instruments are subsequently carried at amortized cost. Fair value instruments are initially
measured at cost and subsequently at fair value.
Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value instruments are immediately recognized
in the statement of comprehensive income. Where fair value cannot be reliably measured,
investments are stated at cost. The fair value of stock-exchange traded equities is their
quoted bid price. Where a quoted market price is not available, the fair value of the
instrument is estimated using pricing models or discounted cash flow techniques.

(j)

Foreign currencies
The financial statements are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment
in which the Company operates (its functional currency).
In preparing the financial statements of the Company, transactions in currencies other than
the Company’s functional currency, the Jamaican dollar, are recorded at the rates of
exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each reporting date, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and on the retranslation
of monetary items, are included in the statement of comprehensive income for the period.

(k)

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and
represents amounts receivable for goods and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts, rebates and consumption taxes.

Revenue is recognized in the statement of comprehensive income when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, receipt of the consideration is
probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be estimated reliably, and
there is no continuing involvement with the goods.
(l)

Leases
Leases are classified as finance lease whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income on a straight-line basis over the terms of the relevant lease.

58

Page 14

FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
(m) Impairment
At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Company estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset.
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than the
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized as an expense immediately.
When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cashgenerating unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (cash-generating unit) in
prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized as income immediately.
(n)

Financial instruments
Financial instruments include transactions that give rise to both financial assets and financial
liabilities. Financial assets and liabilities are recognized on the Company’s statement of
financial position when the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Company are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities.
Financial assets include cash and bank deposits, accounts receivable, long-term receivables
and other current assets except inventories and any prepayments.
Financial liabilities include current liabilities except accruals and income tax payable. The
particular recognition methods adopted are disclosed in the respective accounting policies
associated with each item.
The fair values of the financial instruments are discussed in Note 32.

59

Page 15

FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT'D)
(o)

Employee benefits
Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given by the Company in exchange for
service rendered by employees. These include current or short-term benefits such as
salaries, bonuses, statutory contributions, vacation leave, non-monetary benefits such as
medical care; post-employment benefits such as pensions; and other long-term employee
benefits such as termination benefits.
Employee benefits that are earned as a result of past or current service are recognized in the
following manner:
- Short-term employee benefits are recognized as a liability, net of payments made, and
charged to expense. The expected cost of vacation leave that accumulates is recognized
when the employee becomes entitled to the leave.

(p)

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the obligation at the reporting date and are discounted to
present value where the effect is material.

(q)

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they are incurred.

(r)

Comparative information
Where necessary, comparative figures have been reclassified and or restated to conform to
changes in the current year.
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
4.

REVENUES
Revenues represent the value of goods and services sold to third parties, excluding discounts, rebates and general consumption tax.

5.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Buildings
$

Leasehold
Improvements
$

Furniture
and
Fixtures
$

Computer
Equipment
$

Machinery
and
Equipment
$

Sign
Drapes
$

Motor
Vehicles
$

Total
$

At Cost/Valuation:
Balance at June 30, 2016
Revaluation (i)
Additions

84,761,377 *
217,203,626 *
-

131,627,829 *
1,473,640 *

89,969,728
1,924,834

28,290,644
3,146,495

87,536,735
7,716,601

10,196,121
972,500

24,834,288
5,275,922

457,216,722
217,203,626
20,509,992

Balance at June 30, 2017
Acquisition of assets (see note 6)
Additions

302,000,000 *
-

133,066,472 *
7,101,730
744,537

91,894,562
5,594,960
7,327,127

31,437,139
9,798,481
6,892,717

95,253,336
6,629,829
8,293,779

11,168,621
-

30,110,210
9,554,142

694,930,340
29,125,000
32,812,302

Balance at June 30, 2018

302,000,000

140,912,739

104,816,649

48,128,337

110,176,944

11,168,621

39,664,352

756,867,642

Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance at June 30, 2016
Revaluation (i)
Charge for the year

2,052,728 *
(2,694,073) *
5,674,678 *

21,504,175 *
3,348,958 *

59,437,888
9,038,504

23,440,036
1,612,654

41,843,083
8,918,130

3,380,068
1,100,653

10,215,532
3,566,146

161,873,510
(2,694,073)
33,259,722

Balance at June 30, 2017
Acquisition of assets (note 6)
Charge for period

5,033,333 *
7,550,000

24,853,132 *
3,846,771
3,403,708

68,476,392
3,030,603
5,323,136

25,052,690
9,798,481
2,898,289

50,761,213
3,591,158
10,364,960

4,480,721
1,116,863

13,781,678
5,043,103

192,439,159
20,267,013
35,700,059

Balance at June 30, 2018

12,583,333

32,103,611

76,830,131

37,749,460

64,717,331

5,597,584

18,824,781

248,406,231

Net Book Value:
Balance at June 30, 2018

289,416,667

108,809,128

27,986,518

10,378,877

45,459,613

5,571,037

20,839,571

508,461,411

Balance at June 30, 2017

296,966,667 *

108,213,340 *

23,418,170

6,384,449

44,492,123

6,687,900

16,328,532

502,491,181

Balance at June 30, 2016

80,708,649 *

110,123,654 *

30,531,840

4,850,608

45,693,652

6,816,053

14,618,756

295,343,212

* - Reclassified to conform to 2018 presentation
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT'D)
(i) The Company's buildings were valued by independent appraisers on May 19, 2016 and
October 10, 2016. The valuations were done by Thomas Forbes & Associates Ltd and La Maison
Property Services Limited, respectively. Accordingly, the Company recognized an increase net
of taxes of $164,914,526 which was directly credited to the revaluation reserve. Had the buildings
not been revalued, the carry amount at the reporting date would be $76,168,496 (2017:
$78,222,531 for buildings).
The fair value of buildings is categorised as level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. The following
below shows the valuation technique used in measuring fair value as well as the significant
unobservable inputs used.
Valuation technique:
Market based approach: The approach is based on the principle of substitution whereby the
purchaser with perfect knowledge of the property market pays no more for the subject property
than the cost of acquiring an existing comparable assuming no cost delay in making the
substitution. The approach requires comparison of the subject property with others of similar
design and utility, inter alia, which were sold in the recent past. However, as no two properties
are exactly alike, adjustment is made for the difference between the property subject to valuation
and comparable properties.
Significant unobservable inputs
(i) Details of the sales of comparable properties.
(ii) Conditions influencing the sale of the comparable properties.
(iii) Comparability adjustment
Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and fair value measurement
The estimated fair value would increase/(decrease) if:
(i) Sale value of comparable properties were higher/(lower).
(ii) Comparability adjustment were higher/(lower).
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
6.

INTANGIBLE ASSET

2018
$

2017
$

148,538,950

-

29,125,000
20,267,013

-

Total assets of Fontana Kingston Ltd
Liabilities of Fontana Kingston Ltd

8,857,987
(25,780,182)

-

Net Liabilities of Fontana Kingston Ltd

(16,922,195)

-

Goodwill at the end of the year

165,461,145

-

Purchase consideration
Property, plant and equipment - Cost (note 5)
Property, plant and equipment - Accumulated depreciation (note 5)

Goodwill is an intangible asset which was acquired upon the acquisition of the related company Fontana
Kingston Ltd. The goodwill is assessed for impairment loss on an annual basis.
7.

DUE FROM RELATED PARTIES
Fontana Kingston Ltd (i)
Burbank Holdings (ii)
Fontana Montego Bay Ltd. (ii)
Fontana Sav-La-Mar (ii)
Fontana Distribution (ii)
Fontana Holdings (ii)
Fontana Foundation (ii)

2018
$

2017
$

210,211
82,050
83,000
60,000
60,000
30,650

61,143,447
-

525,911

61,143,447

(i) This represented repayments by Fontana Limited, on behalf of Fontana Kingston Limited ("FKL") for a
loan of US$400,000 acquired by FKL to purchase the assets and goodwill of Azmart for the Kingston
operation in 2013 and also for other expenses paid on behalf of FKL. The amounts were incorporated in
the acquisition of the FKL store location during the year.
(ii) These are unsecured interest free advances to related companies which have no fixed date of repayment.

8.

FINANCE LEASE
Facility

2018
$

2017
$

811,812

3,813,118

811,812

3,813,118

The purpose of this facility is the leasing of a 2016 Toyota Land Cruiser motor vehicle. The facility is
secured by the motor vehicle. The motor vehicle is depreciated over the life of the lease.
Total minimum lease payments:
2018
$
Lease payments due within the next year
Lease payments due thereafter

2017
$

811,812
-

3,001,306
811,812

811,812

3,813,118
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FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
9.

DEPOSIT ON ASSET

These amounts represent funds that were advanced in the development of a new location in Kingston.
The funds consist of, not restricted to, project management fees, deposits on assets and construction
fees.
10. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments
Deferred GCT
Security deposits
Less: Provision for bad debts on security deposits

2018
$

2017
$

31,436,015
13,641,973
9,834,932
1,266,191
8,079,742
-

42,479,325
30,400,613
16,747,901
938,589
8,878,150
(5,638,750)

64,258,853

93,805,828

11. INVENTORIES
2018
$
Inventories
Goods in transit

2017
$

677,740,133
34,593,681
712,333,814

647,073,855
25,803,364
672,877,219

(123,222,383)

(123,180,412)

589,111,431

549,696,807

Less:
Provision for obsolescence

12. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
2018
$
Term and demand deposits
Foreign currency accounts
Short term investments
Cash balances

2017
$

127,994,656
87,505,839
36,666,795
1,673,412

82,548,376
79,798,898
28,429,056
1,583,052

253,840,702

192,359,382
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13. ISSUED SHARE CAPITAL

2018
$
Authorised, issued and fully paid:
15,003,000 Ordinary shares

30,006,000

2017
$
30,006,000

(a)

On June 4, 2010, by ordinary resolution the authorized share capital of the Company was
increased from 3,000 to 15,003,000 by the creation of an additional 15,000,000 ordinary
shares of $2 each, to rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.

(b)

It was also resolved that the shares be allotted to the shareholders in the same proportion
as the existing allocation.

(c)

On June 4, 2010, $30 million of shareholders' loan was converted to share capital and was
used as consideration for the 15,000,000 ordinary shares (see note 16).

14. REVALUATION RESERVE
2018
$
Opening reserve balance
Revaluation of buildings
Deferred taxation on revalued buildings

2017
$

164,914,526
-

219,897,700
(54,983,174)

164,914,526

164,914,526

Revaluation reserve represents unrealised gains arising on changes in fair value of the property at
lot 36 Bogue Industrial Estate and lots 5,6 and 7 Manchester Shopping Centre.
15. DUE FROM / (TO) DIRECTORS
2018
$
Due from directors
Due to directors

2017
$

42,458,179
(11,921,945)

7,548,128
(48,097,406)

30,536,234

(40,549,278)

These are unsecured interest free amounts which have no fixed date of repayment. (see note 31)

16. SHAREHOLDERS' LOAN
2018
$

13,044

2017
$
13,044

This is an interest free loan with no fixed terms of repayment. Thirty million ($30,000,000) dollars
of this loan was converted to share capital in June 2010 (see note 13).
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17. NOTES PAYABLE
2018
$

2017
$

Non-current notes payable
Current notes payable

51,344,000
26,185,440

-

Total notes payable

77,529,440

-

The represents the balance US$600,000 of the purchase consideration for the store location of Fontana
Kingston Ltd between First Venture Investments Ltd and the Company. The loan attracts 8% interest
per annum with 3 principal payments of US$200,000 in each year of the loan.
18. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY
Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with International Accounting
Standard ("IAS") 12. IAS 12 permits the offsetting of deferred tax assets and liabilities if the entity has
a legal right to settle current tax amounts on a net basis and the deferred tax amounts are levied by the
same tax authority on the same entity.
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial statement purposes:
2018
2017
$
$
Deferred tax liabilities

72,802,206

68,892,638 *

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2018
$
Property, plant and equipment
Conversion of foreign currency

2017
$

72,366,454
435,752

69,010,453 *
(117,815)

72,802,206

68,892,638

The movement during the year in the Company’s deferred tax position was as follows:
2018
$

2017
$

Balance at the beginning of the period
Movement during the period

68,892,638
3,909,568

14,578,836
54,313,802 *

Balance at the end of the period

72,802,206

68,892,638 *

* - Reclassified to conform to 2018 presentation
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18. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITY (CONT'D)
The movement during the year in the Company’s deferred tax position was as follows:

Property, plant and equipment
Conversion of foreign currency

Property, plant and equipment
Conversion of foreign currency

Opening
balance
2018
69,010,454
(117,816)

Recognised
in profit/loss
3,356,001
553,567

Recognised in
comprehensive
income
-

Closing
balance
2018
72,366,455
435,751

68,892,638

3,909,568

-

72,802,206

Opening
balance
2017
14,239,618
339,218

Recognised
in profit/loss
(212,338)
(457,034)

Recognised in
comprehensive
income
54,983,174
-

Closing
balance
2017
69,010,454
(117,816)

14,578,836

(669,372)

54,983,174

68,892,638

19. BANK LOANS PAYABLE
2018
$

2017
$

a. Sagicor Bank
b. BNS Consolidation Loan
c. BNS DBJ
d. BNS DBJ
e. BNS Motor Vehicle Loan

32,888,880
4,083,317
5,651,350

385,752
57,555,540
11,083,313
735,542
-

Total notes payable

42,623,547

69,760,147

(30,582,833)

(32,787,950)

12,040,714

36,972,197

Current notes payable
Non-current notes payable
a.

This is a loan with a rate of interest of 12.5% per annum. The loan is repayable over thirty-six (36) months,
in fixed monthly payments of $134,000 inclusive of interest. The loan was secured by a personal guarantee
by a director.

b.

This is a loan with a rate of interest of 8.5% per annum. The loan is repayable over thirty-six (36) months,
in fixed monthly payments of $2,055,555 plus interest. The purpose of the loan was to repay and consolidate
all the previous loans from First Global Bank

c.

This is a loan with a rate of interest of 9% per annum. The loan is repayable over twenty-seven (27) months,
in fixed monthly payments of $583,333 plus interest. The purpose of the loan was to repay and consolidate
all the previous loans from First Global Bank

d.

This is a loan with a rate of interest of 8% per annum. The loan is repayable over fifteen (15) months, in
fixed monthly payments of $105,078 plus interest. The purpose of the loan was to repay and consolidate
all the previous loans from First Global Bank

e.

This is a loan with a rate of interest of 8.50% per annum. The loan is repayable over thirty-six (36) months,
in fixed monthly payments of $152,738 plus interest. The purpose of the loan was to purchase a motor
vehicle.
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20. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
2018
$
Trade payables
Statutory liabilities
Accrued salaries
GCT payable
Credit cards payable
Accrued interest
Other payables and accruals

2017
$

312,714,684
9,494,221
4,657,444
12,799,273
37,025,746
513,440
18,825,277

305,384,302
8,461,785
3,240,202
7,924,312
11,687,275

396,030,085

358,268,350

21,570,474

21. BANK OVERDRAFT
2018
$
First Global Bank
Bank of Nova Scotia Jamaica Limited

2017
$

-

131,082
1,369,190

-

1,500,272

The Company has bank overdraft facilities totalling $3,000,000.

22. TAXATION PAYABLE
Taxation payable is based on profits for the year, adjusted for taxation purposes, subject to the
agreement of the Taxpayer Audit and Assessment Department, and is calculated at 25% (2017:
25%).
2018
2017
$
$
Taxation payable:
Income tax payable at beginning of period
43,345,633
35,131,954
Tax liability for the current period:
51,847,314
60,329,183

Less: payments made during the current period

Taxation payable at the end of the year

95,192,947

95,461,137

(67,284,718)

(52,115,504)

27,908,229

43,345,633
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23. COST OF SALES

2018
$

2017
$

Opening stock
Add: Net purchases

549,696,807
2,168,141,925
2,717,838,732

458,931,948
2,046,010,817
2,504,942,765

Less: Provision for inventory obsolescence
Closing Stock

(41,971)
(589,111,431)

(27,769,917)
(549,696,807)

2,128,685,330

1,927,476,041

24. ADMINISTRATIVE AND GENERAL EXPENSES
2018
$
Directors' emoluments
Salaries
Statutory contributions
Casual labour
Repairs and maintenance
Staff welfare
Electricity
Staff pension
Shop rental
Motor vehicle and travelling
Insurance - general
- life
- health
Overseas travel
Telephone, internet and postage
Printing & stationery
Strata plan maintenance
Staff uniform
Security
Subscriptions and donations
Rates and taxes
Audit fee
Professional and legal fees
Consultancy fees
General office expenses
Irrecoverable GCT
Rental of equipment

2017
$

64,954,850
405,099,537
50,089,053
13,414,079
18,521,266
14,849,439
38,873,711
5,929,109
79,084,730
7,576,118
38,234,813
571,096
13,142,171
21,793,877
13,367,332
1,397,471
15,658,864
2,894,690
24,316,430
3,412,209
5,536,015
1,800,000
2,137,429
3,383,132
7,491,140
17,944,974
430,848

52,994,426
356,141,089
44,847,695
13,901,359
15,706,416
11,874,268
35,120,178
5,736,336
76,158,034
7,260,105
33,286,904
460,331
9,224,097
16,497,361
11,770,803
809,365
15,813,468
2,458,053
21,069,692
2,938,173
5,119,184
1,400,000
1,087,615
2,252,959
6,317,035
26,698,107
252,642

871,904,383

777,195,695
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25. SELLING AND PROMOTION
2018
$
Advertising
Commissions

2017
$

54,209,133
17,060,257

55,503,339
12,923,559

71,269,390

68,426,898

26. OPERATING PROFIT
2018
$

2017
$

345,876,232

372,175,404

64,954,850
1,800,000

52,994,426
1,400,000

Stated after charging the following:
Directors' remuneration
Auditor's remuneration

27. OTHER INCOME
2018
$
Interest income
Commission
Licence fee income
Rental income

2017
$

816,976
23,961,205
8,499,553

426,220
25,544,622
5,136,797
6,473,025

33,277,734

37,580,664
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28. FINANCE AND POLICY COSTS
2018
$
Bank charges and interest
Provision for doubtful debts
Depreciation
Loss on foreign exchange
Loan interest
Provision for inventory obsolescence
Cash shortage
Credit card chargeback
Bad debts

2017
$

19,639,585
13,154,137
35,700,059
(728,479)
6,392,032
41,971
(706,444)
(108,690)
2,706,554

15,881,253
33,259,723
1,815,576
9,220,484
27,769,917
31,407
15,052
217,832

76,090,725

88,211,244

*

29. TAXATION CHARGE

(a)

Income tax is computed at 25% (2017: 25%) of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes.
Deferred taxation is computed for the current financial year at 25% (2017: 25%).
The taxation charge is made up as follows:
2018
$
Current:
Provision for income tax on current profit
Deferred:
Origination and reversal of temporary differences

(b)

2017
$

51,847,314

60,329,183

3,909,568

(669,372)

55,756,882

59,659,811

Reconciliation of effective tax rate and charge:

2018
$

2017
$

Profit before taxation

303,063,241

321,544,824 *

Computed tax charge
Employment tax credit
Taxation differences between profit for
financial statements and tax reporting purposes on:
Depreciation and capital allowances
Disallowed expenses
Foreign exchange (gain) / loss

75,765,810 25%
(21,218,880) -7%

80,386,207 25%
(21,828,865) -7%

Actual tax rate and charge

4,029,054
(2,944,378)
125,276

1%
-1%
0%

55,756,882 17%

1,022,975
654,342
(574,849)

0% *
0% *
0% *

59,659,811 19%

* - Reclassified to conform to 2018 presentation
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30. PROFIT BEFORE INTEREST AND TAXATION

2018
$

2017
$

Net profit for the year
Current period taxation

247,306,359
55,756,882

261,885,013
59,659,811

Profit before interest
Interest expense

303,063,240
6,392,032

321,544,824
9,220,484

Profit before interest and taxation

309,455,272

330,765,309

31. RELATED PARTIES
The following related party balances are shown separately in the Company's statement of financial
position:
2018
$

2017
$

Amounts due to related parties

42,458,179

7,548,128

Amounts due to related parties

11,921,945

48,097,406

The Company's statement of comprehensive income includes the following transactions, undertaken with
related parties in the ordinary course of business:
2018
2017
$
$
Transactions with key management personnel:
- Directors' remuneration

64,954,850

52,994,426

32. STAFF COSTS
The number of employees at the end of the year was as follows:
2018

2017

330

Permanent
The aggregate payroll costs for these persons were as follows:
2018
$
Salaries and profit related pay
Statutory payroll contributions

323

2017
$

405,099,537
50,089,053

356,141,089
44,847,695

455,188,590

400,988,784
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)

Fair value
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. A market price, where an active
market (such as a recognized stock exchange) exists, is the best evidence of the fair value of a
financial instrument. Market prices are not available for some of the financial assets and
liabilities of the Company. Fair values in the financial statements have therefore been presented
using various estimation techniques based on market conditions existing at reporting date.
Generally, considerable judgement is necessarily required in interpreting market data to develop
estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented in these financial statements are
not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company would realise in a current market
exchange.
The following methods and assumptions have been used.

The amounts included in the financial statements for cash and bank deposits, receivable, trade
payables and current portion notes payable reflect the approximate fair values because of shortterm maturity of these instruments.
(b) Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk
- Cash flow risk

The Board of Directors, together with senior management has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework.
The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced
by the Company in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities.
(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s principal
financial assets are cash and bank deposits, accounts receivable and long-term receivables.

73

Page 29

FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Financial risk management (cont’d):
(i) Credit risk (cont’d):
Cash and cash equivalents
The credit risk on cash and bank deposits is limited as they are held with financial institutions with
high credit rating.
Trade receivables
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristic of each
customer. Management has a credit policy in place to minimise exposure to credit risk. Credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit. Management establishes an allowance
for impairment that represents its estimate of losses in respect of trade and other receivables.
Management's policy is to provide for balances based on past default experience, current economic
conditions and expected recovery.

At reporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk and the maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
2018
$
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

2017
$

253,840,702
31,436,015

192,359,382
42,479,325

285,276,717

234,838,707

*

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2018
$
Not past due
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 31-60 days
More than 60 days

2017
$

4,322,210
14,363,611
2,815,940
9,934,254

6,547,274
15,411,316
6,120,504
14,400,231

31,436,015

42,479,325

*-Reclassified to conform to 2018 presentation

74

Page 30

FONTANA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018
33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Financial risk management (cont’d):
(ii)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liability when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company.

Management aims at maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
amount of committed facilities. The management maintains an adequate amount of its
financial assets in liquid form to meet contractual obligations and other recurring payments.
The following are the contractual maturities of the non-derivative financial liabilities,
including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements.

June 30, 2018:
Trade and other payables
Notes payable
Bank loans payable

June 30, 2017:
Trade and other payables
Bank loans payable

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flow

Less than
1 year

$

$

$

More than
1 year
$

396,030,086
77,529,440
42,623,547

396,030,086
89,338,560
45,498,564

396,030,086
32,175,573
41,325,096

57,162,987
4,173,468

516,183,073

530,867,210

469,530,755

61,336,455

358,268,350
69,760,147

358,268,350
74,463,415

358,268,350
35,625,153

38,838,262

428,028,497

432,731,765

393,893,503

38,838,262

(iii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, and
interest rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holding of financial
instruments. The objective of market is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Financial risk management (cont’d):
(iii) Market risk (cont’d):
The Company materially contracts financial liabilities at fixed interest rates for the duration of the term.
When utilized, bank overdrafts are subject to fixed interest rates which may be varied by appropriate
notice by the lender. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no financial liabilities subject to variable
interest rate risk.
Interest-bearing financial assets comprises of bank deposits, which have been contracted at fixed interest
rates for the duration of their terms.
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Company does not hold any fixed rate financial assets that are subject to material changes in fair
value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting dates would not affect
profit or equity.
Foreign currency risk:
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates.

The Company is exposed to significant foreign currency risk, primarily on purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than the Jamaican dollar. Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and liabilities
of the Company that are not denominated in that currency. The main foreign currency risks of the
Company are denominated in United States dollars (US$), which is the principal intervening currency for
the Company.
The Company jointly manages foreign exchange exposure by maintaining adequate liquid resources in
appropriate currencies and by managing the timing of payments on foreign currency liabilities.
The table below shows the Company’s main foreign currency exposure at the reporting date.

US$
Bank and cash
Notes Payables
Trade and other payables
Net exposure

2018
CND$

2017
GBP$

US$

CND$

937,313
(604,000)
(279,679)

16,843
(83,984)

6,639
-

606,556
(267,405)

19,675
(86,692)

5,904
-

53,634

(67,139)

6,639

339,151

(67,017)

5,904

(iv)
Cash flow risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with a monetary financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company manages this risk through budgetary
measures, ensuring, as far as possible, that fluctuations in cash flows relating to monetary financial assets
and liabilities are matched, to mitigate any significant adverse cash flows.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a)

Fair value
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. A market price, where an active
market (such as a recognized stock exchange) exists, is the best evidence of the fair value of a
financial instrument. Market prices are not available for some of the financial assets and
liabilities of the Company. Fair values in the financial statements have therefore been presented
using various estimation techniques based on market conditions existing at reporting date.
Generally, considerable judgement is necessarily required in interpreting market data to develop
estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented in these financial statements are
not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company would realise in a current market
exchange.
The following methods and assumptions have been used.

The amounts included in the financial statements for cash and bank deposits, receivable, trade
payables and current portion notes payable reflect the approximate fair values because of shortterm maturity of these instruments.
(b) Financial risk management
The Company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
- Credit risk
- Liquidity risk
- Market risk
- Cash flow risk

The Board of Directors, together with senior management has overall responsibility for the
establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management framework.
The Company's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced
by the Company in order to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect
changes in market conditions and the Company’s activities.
(i) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an
obligation and cause the other party to incur a financial loss. The Company’s principal
financial assets are cash and bank deposits, accounts receivable and long-term receivables.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Financial risk management (cont’d):
(i) Credit risk (cont’d):
Cash and cash equivalents
The credit risk on cash and bank deposits is limited as they are held with financial institutions with
high credit rating.
Trade receivables
The Company’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristic of each
customer. Management has a credit policy in place to minimise exposure to credit risk. Credit
evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit. Management establishes an allowance
for impairment that represents its estimate of losses in respect of trade and other receivables.
Management's policy is to provide for balances based on past default experience, current economic
conditions and expected recovery.

At reporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk and the maximum
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset.
2018
$
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade receivables

2017
$

253,840,702
31,436,015

192,359,382
42,479,325

285,276,717

234,838,707

*

The aging of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

2018
$
Not past due
Past due 1-30 days
Past due 31-60 days
More than 60 days

2017
$

4,322,210
14,363,611
2,815,940
9,934,254

6,547,274
15,411,316
6,120,504
14,400,231

31,436,015

42,479,325

*-Reclassified to conform to 2018 presentation
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Financial risk management (cont’d):
(ii)

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not meet its financial obligations as they fall
due. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it
will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liability when due, under both normal and
stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company.

Management aims at maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through an
amount of committed facilities. The management maintains an adequate amount of its
financial assets in liquid form to meet contractual obligations and other recurring payments.
The following are the contractual maturities of the non-derivative financial liabilities,
including interest payments and excluding the impact of netting agreements.

June 30, 2018:
Trade and other payables
Notes payable
Bank loans payable

June 30, 2017:
Trade and other payables
Bank loans payable

Carrying
amount

Contractual
cash flow

Less than
1 year

$

$

$

More than
1 year
$

396,030,086
77,529,440
42,623,547

396,030,086
89,338,560
45,498,564

396,030,086
32,175,573
41,325,096

57,162,987
4,173,468

516,183,073

530,867,210

469,530,755

61,336,455

358,268,350
69,760,147

358,268,350
74,463,415

358,268,350
35,625,153

38,838,262

428,028,497

432,731,765

393,893,503

38,838,262

(iii) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, and
interest rates will affect the Company’s income or the value of its holding of financial
instruments. The objective of market is to manage and control market risk exposures within
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return.
Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes
in market interest rates.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)
(b) Financial risk management (cont’d):
(iii) Market risk (cont’d):
The Company materially contracts financial liabilities at fixed interest rates for the duration of the term.
When utilized, bank overdrafts are subject to fixed interest rates which may be varied by appropriate
notice by the lender. At June 30, 2018 and 2017, there were no financial liabilities subject to variable
interest rate risk.
Interest-bearing financial assets comprises of bank deposits, which have been contracted at fixed interest
rates for the duration of their terms.
Fair value sensitivity analysis for fixed rate instruments
The Company does not hold any fixed rate financial assets that are subject to material changes in fair
value through profit or loss. Therefore, a change in interest rates at the reporting dates would not affect
profit or equity.
Foreign currency risk:
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in
foreign exchange rates.

The Company is exposed to significant foreign currency risk, primarily on purchases that are denominated
in a currency other than the Jamaican dollar. Such exposures comprise the monetary assets and liabilities
of the Company that are not denominated in that currency. The main foreign currency risks of the
Company are denominated in United States dollars (US$), which is the principal intervening currency for
the Company.
The Company jointly manages foreign exchange exposure by maintaining adequate liquid resources in
appropriate currencies and by managing the timing of payments on foreign currency liabilities.
The table below shows the Company’s main foreign currency exposure at the reporting date.

US$
Bank and cash
Notes Payables
Trade and other payables
Net exposure

(iv)

2018
CND$

2017
GBP$

US$

CND$

GBP$

937,313
(604,000)
(279,679)

16,843
(83,984)

6,639
-

606,556
(267,405)

19,675
(86,692)

5,904
-

53,634

(67,139)

6,639

339,151

(67,017)

5,904

Cash flow risk
Cash flow risk is the risk that future cash flows associated with a monetary financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company manages this risk through budgetary
measures, ensuring, as far as possible, that fluctuations in cash flows relating to monetary financial assets
and liabilities are matched, to mitigate any significant adverse cash flows.
82

PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

37

83

UNAUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 SEPTEMBER 2018
INDEX

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

2

Statement of Financial Position

3

Statement of Changes in Equity

4

Statement of Cash Flows

5

Notes to the Financial Statements

6

84

PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

FONTANA LIMITED
STATEMENT OF PROFIT & LOSS
FOR QUARTER ENDING 30 SEPTEMBER 2018
Unaudited

Unaudited

Year to Date

Year to Date

Sep-18

Sep-17

$

$

Revenues

935,808,078

886,974,084

Cost of Sales

640,083,523

650,199,795

Gross Profit

295,724,555

236,774,288

222,697,157

205,198,207

15,439,270

13,703,536

238,136,427

218,901,743

Operating profit

57,588,128

17,872,545

Other income

8,519,431

9,222,327

66,107,559

27,094,872

Finance and policy costs

14,058,229

15,602,273

Profit before taxation

52,049,330

11,492,599

Taxation charge

-

-

Net Profit for the period

52,049,330

11,492,599

Administrative and other
expenses
Selling and promotion
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

FONTANA LIMITED
MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
FOR QUARTER ENDING 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Note

Unaudited

Unaudited

Year to Date

Year to Date

Sep-18

Sep-17

213,803,988

509,995,259

165,461,145

61,173,447

ASSETS
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

3

Intangible asset
Finance Lease asset

-

3,098,146

379,265,133

574,266,851

Current Assets
Finance Lease Asset
Due from Related parties
Deposit on Asset

4

Due from Directors
Trade and other receivables

5

Inventories
Cash and cash equivalents

-

143,000

106,340,262

-

36,231,456

-

98,092,609

110,882,974

680,045,657

571,101,833

198,478,113

61,580,389

1,119,188,098

743,708,196

1,498,453,231

1,317,975,048

30,006,000

30,006,000

Revaluation reserve

-

164,914,526

Accumulated surplus

797,100,155

633,739,356

827,106,155

828,659,882

72,802,207

68,892,638

TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY & LIABILITIES
Equity
Issued share capital

Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred tax liability
Due to Directors

22,042,577

Shareholder's loan

13,044

Notes Payable
Bank Loans payable

6

13,044

77,529,440

-

55,180,471

68,266,473

205,525,162

159,214,732
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
Current Liabilities
Finance Lease Obligation
Due to Related Parties

-

3,033,928

7

9,458,840

-

8

439,261,530

292,284,859

17,101,545

34,781,647

465,821,914

330,100,435

1,498,453,231

1,317,975,048

Notes Payable - Current portion
Bank Loans payable - Current portion
Trade and other payables
Bank overdraft
Taxation payable

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

FONTANA LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
QUARTER ENDING 30 SEPTEMBER 2018

Balance at June 30,
2017
Comprehensive
income:
Net Profit for the
year/period

SHARE
CAPITAL

REVALUATION
RESERVE

ACCUMULATED
SURPLUS

TOTAL

$

$

$

$

30,006,000

164,914,526

622,246,757

817,167,283

247,306,359

247,306,359

247,306,359

247,306,359

869,553,116

1,064,473,642

52,049,330

52,049,330

(164,914,526)

(124,502,141)

(289,416,667)

(164,914,526)

(72,452,811)

(237,367,337)

-

797,100,305

827,106,305

Total
Comprehensive
Income
Balance at June 30,
2018
Comprehensive
income:
Net Profit for the
year/period

30,006,000

Other
comprehensive
income:
De-recognition of
PPE through Owner's
Equity (see note #3)
Total
Comprehensive
Income
Balance at
September 30, 2018

30,006,000

164,914,526
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
FONTANA LIMITED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
QUARTER ENDING SEPTEMBER 30, 2018

Unaudited

Unaudited

Year to Date

Year to Date

Sep-18

Sep-17

$

$

52,049,330

11,492,599

Depreciation

6,863,376

7,968,201

Interest Expense

1,051,234

1,716,481

Diff. in RE c/f

(152)

Finance Cost

-

(64,219)

59,963,788

21,113,062

Inventories

(90,934,226)

(21,405,026)

Deposit on Asset

(37,155,755)

-

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustment for items not affecting cash resources:

Decrease/(increase) in operating assets:

Due to related Parties

9,984,751

61,000,447

Trade and other Receivables

(33,833,756)

(17,077,145)

Trade and other payables

43,231,445

(65,983,491)

Cash flows provided by operating activities

(48,743,755)

(22,352,152)

Taxation paid

(10,806,684)

(8,563,986)

Net cash flows provided by operating activities

(59,550,439)

(30,916,138)

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities:

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Notes payable

-

-

Addition to intangigle asset

-

(61,173,447)

Finance lease asset

-

3,033,928

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment

(1,622,619)

(15,472,279)

Net cash used in investing activities

(1,622,619)

(73,611,798)
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CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACIVITIES
Proceeds from loans

20,931,803

7,331,468

Repayment of loans

(8,374,879)

(8,825,142)

Finance lease obligations

-

(3,033,928)

Repayment of director's loans

(5,695,222)

(18,506,701)

Interest paid

(1,051,234)

(1,716,481)

Net cash used in financing activities

5,810,468

(24,750,785)

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(55,362,589)

(129,278,721)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of the period

253,840,702

190,859,110

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - End of the period

198,478,113

61,580,389

REPRESENTED BY:
Bank overdraft

-

Short term investment

38,607,210

10,150,734

Cash and bank deposits

159,870,903

51,429,656

198,478,113

61,580,389
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - QUARTER ENDED 30
SEPTEMBER 2018 UNAUDITED
1.

IDENTIFICATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
Fontana Limited (the company) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and its registered office is
situated at Manchester Shopping Centre, Mandeville, Jamaica.
The company is applying to be listed on the Junior Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange.
The principal activity of the company is the operation of a pharmacy business in each of its five
locations dispersed over Jamaica as well as the retailing of consumer goods such as cosmetics,
household essentials, school supplies and more.

2.

STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
These unaudited interim financial statements for the 3 months ended 30 September 2018 have been
prepared in accordance with IAS 34, 'Interim financial reporting'. These interim financial statements
should be read in conjunction with the accounting policies as set out in Note # 3 of the audited
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 which have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

3.

PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT
The board took the decision to de-recognize the real assets comprising of the buildings holding the
warehouse in Montego Bay (36 Bogue Industrial Estate) and the store in Manchester (lots 5, 6 & 7
Manchester Shopping Centre) with an effective date of July 01, 2018. These were transferred out to
a related company, Fontana Properties Limited with a resulting no gain/no loss on the disposal.

The shortfall was funded from the accumulated surplus as at June 30, 2018.
The carrying values of these assets before de-recognition are shown below:
$
Warehouse Building

157,166,667

Manchester Shopping Centre Building

132,250,000
289,416,667

4.

DEPOSIT ON ASSET
These amounts represent funds that were advanced in the development of the new location in
Waterloo Square, Kingston.
The funds consist of, project management fees, deposits on assets and other general outfitting
fees.
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
5.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

$

Trade Receivables

36,429,726

Other Receivables

21,618,635

Pre-payments

31,280,264

Deferred GCT
Security Deposits

684,243
8,079,742
98,092,609

6.

BANK LOANS PAYABLE
$
a. BNS Consolidated Loan

26,722,215

b. BNS DBJ Loan

2,333,318

c. BNS Motor Vehicle Loan

5,193,136

d. BNS Energy Loan 2018 (FV)

20,931,803
55,180,471

a. to c. Are existing loans as at the year end and are detailed in Note #19 of the audited financial
statements for year ended June 30, 2018.
d. This is a loan with a rate of interest of 6.75% fixed per annum. The loan is repayable over 54
months including 6-months moratorium on principal payments. The repayable amount is $599,904
commencing January 25, 2019 for 48 months. The purpose of the loan was the installation of solar
panels to the Fairview Montego Bay location as part of our energy conservation project

7.

DUE TO RELATED PARTIES
$
a. Fontana Kingston Ltd.
b. Burbank Holdings

210,211

c. Fontana Montego Bay Ltd.

112,050

d. Fontana Sav-La-Mar Ltd.

118,000

e. Fontana Distribution Ltd.

90,000

f. Fontana Holdings Ltd.

90,000

g. Fontana Foundation
h. Fontana Properties Ltd.

30,650
(10,109,750)
(9,458,840)

a. to g. represents unsecured interest free advances to related companies which have no fixed date
of repayment
h. represents the rent due and payable for 36 Bogue Industrial Estate (housing the warehouse in
Montego Bay) and lots 5, 6 & 7 Manchester Shopping Centre (housing the Manchester store)
of US$15,000 and US$10,000 respective for the three month period ending September 30, 2018.
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PART 2 – UNAUDITED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued)
8.

TRADE AND OT HER PAYABLES
$

Trade payables

360,127,001

Statutory Liabilities

10,813,903

Accrued Salaries

8,147,821

GCT Payable

5,159,316

Credit cards payable

36,167,562

Accrued Interest
Other payables and accruals

513,440
18,332,488
439,261,531
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SECTION 11: RISK FACTORS
Key Personnel
It is important that the Company attracts and retains appropriately skilled persons in order to operate its
business, and to promote its growth. It is also important for the Company to replace personnel whose
employment may be terminated for any reason within a reasonable time. In Jamaica, competition for qualified
personnel can be intense, as there are a limited number of people with the requisite skills, knowledge and
experience. The Company will need to attract and retain honest qualified personnel and failure to do so could
have a material adverse impact on the Group’s future prospects.
The Company relies in particular on the skills of its 3 Executive Directors, for the relationship with its suppliers
and customers and for strategic planning based on the in-depth knowledge of the health care industry in
Jamaica, which the Company supports and services. The executive officers are supported by the remainder
of the Board, which the Directors consider as a collective has appropriate experience for the governance of
the Company at the present time.
Macro Economic Policies
Changes in fiscal and monetary policies introduced by the Government of Jamaica may affect the behaviour
of capital markets including the JSE and the market for securities the Company holds in its investment portfolio.
If such policies become onerous from the point of view of the Company or its clients this could require the
Company to change the types of products it offers, or the terms on which it offers them, or the overall nature
of its business operations.
New Regulatory Rules or Standards
The pharmaceutical business of the Company is licenced by the Pharmacy Council and other legislation. In
future, all or part of the business may become subject to existing or new regulatory rules or standards that
differ from those that are applicable. If such regulatory rules or standards become onerous from the point of
view of the Company or its clients this could require the Company to recapitalize, or to change its business
operations, and in any case, changes in such regulatory rules or standards may affect its long - term
profitability.
New Accounting Rules or Standards
The Company may become subject to new accounting rules or standards that differ from those that are
presently applicable. Such new accounting rules or standards could require significant changes in the way the
Company currently reports its financial position, operating results or cash flows. Such changes could be
applied retrospectively. This is a risk that is common to companies that apply International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS), as required under the Jamaican Companies Act.
Operational Risk
The Company is also subject to the risk of loss resulting from disruptions to its business, inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems, or from external events (including severe weather, other acts of God
social unrest). This definition also includes systemic risk (including the risk of accounting errors, failure to
procure appropriate insurance coverage, and compliance failures), legal risk and reputation risk. This catchall category of risks also includes employee errors, computer and manual systems failures, security failures,
fire, floods or other losses to physical assets, and fraud or other criminal activity or any other risk that affects
the volume of visitor arrivals to the island. The Directors consider that the Company is prudent and that it
insures itself against some (but not all) of these risks. It may not be feasible for the Company to insure itself in
respect of all of the risks mentioned, because no coverage maybe available or it is not economical to do so.
Control of the Company by certain of the Directors
The Ordinary Shares in the Invitation will not confer legal or effective control of the Company on Applicants.
The Company is controlled by the Chang family and/or vehicles controlled by or connected to them and their
respective associates.
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Product Liability Risk
The Company distributes pharmaceutical products manufactured by third party entities. As a distributor of such
products the Company is capable of being sued by customers or other persons who suffer harm. The Company
carries insurance cover against third party liability risk as well as product liability risk, however such cover may
not be adequate in a given circumstance, or it may not be available at all in accordance with the terms and
conditions of any particular insurance policy and these events may have an adverse effect on the financial
position of the Company. Admission of the shares to the Junior Market of the JSE.
Listing Application Risk
After the Closing Date, and assuming that the Company is able to raise the Minimum Amount as a result of
the Invitation the Company will make application to the JSE to admit the Shares to the Junior Market. The
application for listing is dependent on the success of the Invitation in raising the stated funds in the stated time
and other criteria set out in the Junior Market Rules. However, the Company is not able to guarantee the
success of the Invitation or the admission of the Shares to the Junior Market. If the listing is not achieved, the
Company will not be eligible for the remission of income tax described in the paragraph below.
Junior Market Taxation
The Directors anticipate that the Company will benefit from a 10-year concessionary tax regime that starts
from the date of listing. The remission of tax requires the Company to meet the ongoing Junior Market
requirements for at least 15 years from the date of listing. Assuming that those conditions are met, in the
Company’s first 5 years on the Junior Market, the Company will not be liable to pay any corporate income tax.
In years 6 to 10 on the Junior Market, the Company will be liable to pay corporate income tax at half of the
usual rate. If the Company breaches the requirements it may be liable to repay the tax that was remitted.
Volatility in Price of Ordinary Shares / Flat Trading
Following their proposed admission to trading on the JSE the Ordinary Shares may experience volatility in
their market price, or flat trading, being very infrequent or insignificant volumes of trading, either or which may
extend beyond the short term and which may be dependent on the Company's financial performance, as well
as on investors' confidence and other factors over which the Company has no control. In either case the market
price of the Shares may be negatively affected or constrained from growing.
Concentration Risk - Key Partners/ Suppliers
The Company relies on its business relationships with its customers and also, its key partners. The Company
relies on its contractual arrangements to sell its products. If the supplier(s) were to change the terms of its
contract with the Company, or if a supplier were to fail to continue to supply goods to the Company for any other
reason whatsoever, the revenues, profits and market share of the Company could be adversely affected in the
interim, and it would be required to identify new partners and implement alternative business strategies that may
or may not be successful.
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SECTION 12: __PROFESSIONAL ADVISERS TO THE COMPANY
Lead Broker and Sole Listing Agent
Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited
7 Holborn Road, Kingston 10
Auditors
CrichtonMullings & Associates
Unit 27B, 80 LMR
80 Lady Musgrave Road, Kingston 10
Attorneys to the Company in the Invitation
Patterson Mair Hamilton
Temple Court, 85 Hope Road, Kingston 6
Registrars and Transfer Agents for the Shares
Jamaica Central Securities Depository
40 Harbour Street, Kingston
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SECTION 13: STATUTORY AND GENERAL INFORMATION
13.1 Statutory information required to be set out in this Prospectus by section 42 and the Third
Schedule to the Companies Act.
(1)

The Company has no founders or management or deferred shares.

(2)

The Articles of Incorporation fix no shareholding qualification for directors and none has been otherwise
fixed by the Company in general meeting.

(3)

The Articles of Incorporation contain the following provisions with respect to the remuneration of
Directors:

(a)

The remuneration of the directors shall from time to time be determined by the Company in general
meeting. Such remuneration shall be deemed to accrue from day to day. The directors may also be
paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly incurred by them in attending and returning from
meetings or any committee of the Directors or general meetings of the Company in connection
with the business of the Company. The Directors may award special remuneration out of the funds
of the Company to any Director going or residing abroad in the interest of the Company, or undertaking
any work additional to that usually required of Directors of a company similar to the Company. (Article
77)

(b)

A director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or otherwise interested in, any
company promoted by the Company or in which the Company may be interested as shareholder or
otherwise, and no such director shall be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other
benefits received by him as a director or officer of, or from his interest in, such other company unless
the Company otherwise directs. (Article 79)

(c)

A director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the office of auditor)
in conjunction with his office of director for such period and on such terms (as to remuneration
and otherwise) as the directors may determine and no director or intending director shall be disqualified
by his office from contracting with the Company either with regard to his tenure of any such other
office or place of profit or as vendor, purchaser or otherwise, nor shall any such contract, or any contract
or management entered into by or on behalf of the Company in which any director is in any way
interested, be liable to be avoided, nor shall any director so contracting or being so interested be liable
to account to the Company for any profit realized by any such contract or arrangement by reason of
such director holding that office or of the fiduciary relation thereby established. (Article 89(3) )

(d)

Any director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the Company, and he or his firm
shall be entitled to remuneration for professional services as if he were not a director; provided that
nothing herein contained shall authorize a director or his firm to act as auditor to the company. (Article 89
(5) )

(e)

The Directors on behalf of the Company may pay a gratuity or pension or allowance on retirement to any
Director who has held any other salaried office or place of profit with the Company or to his widow or
dependents and may make contributions to any fund and pay premiums for the purchase or provision
of any such gratuity, pension or allowance. (Article 94)

(c)

A Chief Executive Officer shall receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission or
participation in profits, or partly in one way and partly in another) as the Directors may determine.
(Article 118)

(4)

The names and addresses of the Directors are as follows:
• Shinque (Bobby) Chang 238 Burbank Drive, Willowdale, Ontario, Canada
• Kevin Chang, Lot 3, 28-30 Decarteret Road, Mandeville
• Anne Chang, 15 The Lagoons, Montego Bay

97

• Raymond Therrien, 15 The Lagoons, Montego Bay
• Jacqueline Sharp 9 Edgecombe Avenue, Kingston 6
• Heather Goldson 33 Temple Meads, Kingston 6
(5)
The minimum amount required to be raised out of the proceeds of the Invitation to provide for the matters set
out in paragraph 2 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule to the Companies Act (the “minimum subscription”) is the
Minimum Amount Z
. KLFKLQWKLVLQVWDQFHLV$234,040,086.20.
(6)

The Invitation will open for subscription at 9:00 a.m. on Thursday 13 December 2018 and
will close on an expedited basis at 4:00 p.m. on the Closing Date (or earlier), Thursday
20 December 2018 if the Company has received applications for Shares valued at more
than $234,040,086.20 which will be allotted
as a priority to the shares for sale. The Company may
the Opening Date if Applications have
close the Invitation at any time after 9:00 a.m. on
been received for an amount in excess of the Shares offered
under this Prospectus,
or to extend the Closing Date
in the sole discretion of
the Company, for
any
reason whatsoever, provided that it is not later than 40 days following the issue of this
Prospectus for the purposes of section 48 of the Companies Act. See the terms and
conditions in 6.4 for information
on the Closing Date in particular.

(7)

All Applicants who are members of the general public will be required to pay the Invitation Price of $1.88
per Share in full on Application, save the Company Reserved Shares which are priced
at $1.69. No further sum will be payable on allotment.

(8)

Save as set out in paragraphs 16 below no person has, or is entitled to be given, any option to subscribe for
any shares in, or debentures of, the Company.

(9)

As at 30 September 2018, being the date to which the Unaudited Financial Information of the
Company is made up to, the Company held the following investments:
Trade and other receivables
98,092,609.41
Inventories
680,045,657.34
Cash and cash equivalents
198,478,113.00
976,616,379.75

(10)

There is no amount for goodwill, patent, or trademarks shown in the Financial Information of the
Company, and there is no contract for sale and purchase, which would involve any goodwill, patent or
trademarks.

(11)

As at 30 September 2018, being the date to which the Unaudited Financial Information of the
Company is made up to, the indebtedness of the Company was as follows:
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(12)

The Company has declared a dividend in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2018 that is
payable on 30 November 2018. No other dividends have been paid by the Company in the 5 year
period represented by the Audited Financial Information. The dividend policy of the Company is
described in Section 7.13.

(13)

There is no property that is currently proposed to be purchased or acquired by the Company, which is to
be paid for wholly or partly out of the proceeds of this Invitation for the purposes of paragraphs 6 to 9
(inclusive) of Part 1 of the Third Schedule of the Companies Act.

(14)

Save as set out in paragraph 16 below within the 2 preceding years, no commissions have been
paid, nor will any be payable to anyone for subscribing or agreeing to subscribe or procuring or
agreeing to procure subscriptions for any shares or debentures of the Company.

(15)

The Company expects to pay the expenses of the Invitation out of the proceeds of its fundraising, and
the Company estimates that such expenses will not exceed J$15 million (inclusive of brokerage fees,
legal fees, auditors’ fees, the Registrar’s fees, stamp duties and other document filing fees, initial listing
and other JSE and JCSD fees and exclusive of GCT). Of those expenses the most material are the lead
brokerage fees set out in paragraph 16.

(16)

Within the last 2 years preceding the date of this Prospectus, no amount or benefit has been paid or
given or is intended to be paid or given to any promoter or person in connection with the sale of
Shares in the Company save for the Lead Broker and Sole Listing Agent, Scotia Investments Jamaica
Limited pursuant to an Agreement dated 20 November 2018 in the amount of 1.5% of funds raised in the
Invitation. All fees referred to are payable in cash unless otherwise stated and exclusive of GCT, and
disbursements.

(17)

The material contracts of the Company are set out in Section 7.6.

(18)

The external auditors of the Company are CrichtonMullings & Associates, Chartered Accountants.

(19)

CrichtonMullings & Associates has given and has not withdrawn their consent to the issue of
this Prospectus with the inclusion of their name in the context in which it is included.

(20)

The Company was incorporated on 15 November 1968. It is a subsidiary of Burbank Holdings Limited. It
has no subsidiaries of its own.

(21)

Taxation of Listed Shares: Section 17(1)(d) of the Transfer Tax Act provides that transfers of shares
made in the ordinary course of business on the Jamaica Stock Exchange will not attract transfer tax. The
Schedule to the Stamp Duty Act provides that transfer documents in respect of share transfers made in
the ordinary course of business on the Jamaica Stock Exchange will not attract Stamp Duty. The Income
Tax Act provides that dividends paid to residents of Jamaica are subject to withholding tax at the rate of
15%. Such tax is to be withheld at source by the Registrar on behalf of the Company and paid over to the
tax authorities. Shareholders who are exempt from the payment of tax should so specify in their
Application setting out evidence of the exemption.

(22)

Prospective investors should seek advice on the taxation of listed companies and their prospective
investment in the Company from a professional adviser, and should not rely on the summary set out
above.
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SECTION 14: DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION
Copies of the following documents may be inspected by appointment only, at the law offices of Patterson Mair
Hamilton, Temple Court, 85 Hope Road, Kingston 6 between the hours of 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. on Mondays to
Fridays, up to and including the Closing Date:
1.

The Articles of Incorporation.

2.

The Material Contracts described in section 7.6.

3.

The regulatory permits and licenses described in section 7.2.

4.

The Auditor’s Report and the Financial Information.

5.

The consent of the Auditors to the inclusion of each of their names and references thereto in the form
and context in which they appear in this Prospectus.
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Appendix 1

Application Form

Employee Gift
Employee Reserved
Strategic Partners
Public
Key Customers & Doctors

please read carefully before completing this form
To:
Fontana Limited (“Fontana” or the “The Company”)
Re: In respect of up to 249,874,965 Ordinary Shares at J$1.88 each being offered made pursuant to the Prospectus dated and registered on or
around December 6, 2018. I/We confirm that I/we have read and understood and hereby agree to be bound by the terms and conditions
contained in the Prospectus, all of which are incorporated in this Application Form by reference.
I/We hereby apply for

ordinary shares in Fontana Limited on and subject to the terms and conditions of

the Invitation set out in the Prospectus at the price of J$1.88 each, and I/we attach my/our payment (inclusive of processing fees of J$163.10)
for

or I/we request my broker to make payment on my/our behalf from cleared funds held by them in

my /our names in account numbered ___________________________, with them. I/We hereby instruct my/our broker to debit my/our account
with the sum of J$

for the purposes of my/our subscription of ordinary shares and processing fee as

indicated above.
I/We agree to accept the same or any smaller number of Shares in respect of which this application may be accepted, subject to the terms and
conditions in the Prospectus and the Articles of Incorporation of the , by which I/we agree to be bound. I/We request you to sell and transfer to
me/us the number of shares which may be allocated to me/us at the close of the said Invitation based on the terms and conditions governing
applications, as set forth in the Prospectus. I/We hereby agree to accept the shares that may be allocated to me/us to be credited to an account in
my/our name(s) in the Jamaica Central Securities Depository (JCSD).
All fields are relevant and must be completed.
Please indicate your JCSD account number here

JCSD Account Number

Broker Code

Primary Holder Details
Primary Holder (Either Company or Individual)

Taxpayer Registration Number

Primary Mobile/Cell Number

Work Number

Email Address—Please print

Signatures:
Primary Holder:

Date Signature Affixed:

Companies (Company Seal or Stamp required):
Director:

Director/Secretary:

Date Signatures Affixed:

Joint Holder Information
First named Joint Holder

Occupation

Taxpayer Registration Number

Signature

Taxpayer Registration Number

Signature

Taxpayer Registration Number

Signature

Second named Joint Holder

Occupation

Third named Joint Holder

Occupation
USE BY REGISTRAR ONLY

Form ID:
Batch #

All Applicants MUST indicate their Taxpayer Registration Number (TRN) or other equal identifier on the application
All applicants are required to pay J$163.10 non-refundable processing fee per application submitted
This offer is not made to persons resident outside Jamaica
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Appendix 1 (Continued)

Application Form

NOTES ON HOW TO COMPLETE THE APPLICATION FORM

1.
2.
3.

4.
5.
6.
6.

7.
8.

All completed applications must be delivered to any of the Scotiabank/Scotia Investments locations listed in this prospectus.
Applications that are not from the Reserved Share pool must be for a minimum of 5,000 shares with increments in multiples of
1,000 shares. Applications in other denominations will not be processed or accepted.
All applicants must attach their payment for the specified number of Shares they have applied for, in the form of either:
A. A Manager’s cheque made payable to “Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited” or
B. Authorization on the Application Form from the Applicant instructing Scotia Investments to make payment from
cleared funds held in an investment account in the Applicant’s name at Scotia Investments, or
C. Transfer in the Real Time Gross Settlement (“RTGS”)/ACH system to Bank The Bank of Nova Scotia Ja. Ltd., Address
Corner Duke & Port Royal Street, Kingston, Transit Number 50765, Beneficiary “Scotia Investments Ltd – IPO”, Address
Corner Duke & Port Royal Streets, Kingston, Beneficiary Account Number - 803902
If you are applying jointly with any other person, you must complete the Joint Holder Information and each joint holder must sign
the Application Form at the place indicated.
If you are a Reserved Pool applicant, please make sure you have ticked the appropriate box at the top of the first page.
All Applicants must be at least 18 years old and must attach a certified copy of their T.R.N. card or Jamaican Driver’s Licence
displaying the T.R.N.
Share Certificates will not be issued unless specifically requested through your broker. Instead, the shares allotted to a successful
applicant will be credited to his account at the Jamaica Central Securities Depository (“JCSD”). If the applicant does not have a
JCSD account, one will be created by your broker and the allotted shares deposited to that account. Applicants may refer to the
notice posted on the JSE website (www.jamstockex.com) for instructions on confirming Share Allotments
All Applicants are deemed to have accepted the terms and conditions set out in the Prospectus and the Articles of Incorporation
of the Company generally.
Requests for changes to your JCSD account information e.g. dividend mandate instructions, change of address, telephone
numbers and email addresses etc. must be directed through your broker as customary.
TO BE COMPLETED BY INVESTOR TO INDICATE WHERE ELECTRONIC REFUND PAYMENT IS TO BE MADE

INVESTOR PLEASE TAKE NOTE



If refunds are to be sent to account held by the Investor with their Broker, both the Brokers’ Operational Account and Investors’ account number
with the Broker must be provided in [Account Number(s):] field. Information provided for refund processing will not be added to Investor JCSD
account(s).
Refunds will only be directed based on information provided and signed to below. Primary account holder must sign below confirming their agreement to refund instructions. Unsigned information will not be processed.

Name Of Bank:
Branch:
Name(s) on Bank Account:
Bank Account currency:
Account Number(s):

Bank Account #:

Broker Account #:

Account Type (Sav/Chq):
Transit Number:
Please print and deliver refund cheque for values less than J$1,000,000.00 to my broker for collection

Primary Holder:

Date:

Companies (Company Seal or Stamp required):
Director:

Director/Secretary:

Date:

This Section For Use By Broker Only
Date Application Received: ___________________________

Time Received: __________________________

Payment Method: __________________________________

Payment Value: ________________________
Payment Date: _________________________



SJIL A/c #



SJIL Transfer/Deposit slip



RTGS / Wire



Cheque #

Pool: __________________________________
Broker Stamp and Signature:

SIJL Advisor: _________________________________________________________

Branch: _________________________________
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APPENDIX 2: LOCATIONS WHERE APPLICATIONS MAY BE SUBMITTED
Scotiabank Center
Corner of Duke & Port Royal Streets
Kingston
Tel: 926-1000

Scotiabank Spanish Town
6 March Pen Road
Shops 25 & 26, Oasis Shopping Centre
Fax: 984-4400

Scotia Investments Head Office
7 Holborn Road, Kingston 10
Toll Free: 1-888-429-5745
Tel: 960-6699 or 960-6700
Fax: 960-6705 or 968-7607

Scotiabank Ocho Rios
Main Street, Ocho Rios
Fax: 974-5532

Scotiabank Half Way Tree
82-84 Half Way Tree Road
Kingston 10
Fax: 906-0675

Scotiabank Mandeville
1a Caledonia Road
Mandeville, Manchester
Tel: 963-6000/1 or Fax: 962-5645

Scotiabank Group Financial Centre
132-132A Constant Spring Rd.
Kingston 8
Toll Free: 1-888-429-5745
Fax: 946-7281

Scotiabank Savanna-La-Mar
72 Great George Street
Savanna-La-Mar
Tel: 918-1717 or 955-4932
Fax: 955-2234

Scotiabank Liguanea
125-127 Old Hope Road
P.O. Box 45, Kingston 6
Fax: 977-4923

Scotiabank Negril
Negril Square
Fax: 957-4238

Scotiabank New Kingston
2 Knutsford Boulevard
Kingston 5
Fax: 926-9088

Scotiabank Montego Bay
Fairview Financial Centre
1 Port Avenue, Bogue, Montego Bay
Tel: 940-0691/3
Fax: 940-0694
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